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About this Annual Report 
 

Welcome to our 2012 Annual Report. This report presents you with easy to read 
information on the operational, financial and service performance of Durack Institute of 
Technology for the 2012 calendar year. 
 
This report provides you with an insight into the services we delivered to the Central West 
Region of Western Australia over the past 12 months. Not only does our report highlight 
Durack’s achievements against key strategic priorities, but also recognises and addresses 
the challenges and opportunities facing us in the future.  We are committed to being 
recognised as a sustainable, transparent and responsive training organisation that continues 
to meet the needs of clients, community and industry. 
 
As part of our continuous improvement approach we welcome any feedback you might 
have on this report and your queries on any aspects, or suggestions on how we can enhance 
the information we provide.  This Annual Report is also available in alternative formats upon 
request. 
 
Enquiries and feedback may be directed to: 
 
Manager Policy and Planning 
Locked Bag 103  
GERALDTON WA 6531 
 
Telephone  (08) 9956 2834 
Fax (08) 9921 7705 
Email feedback@durack.edu.au 
 

Contacts 
 

Freecall  1800 672 700 
 
Geraldton Campus 
Fitzgerald Street GERALDTON WA 6530 
Locked Bag 103 GERALDTON WA 6531 
Telephone (08) 9956 2700 
Facsimile (08) 9921 7705 
 
Batavia Coast Maritime Institute 
Willcock Drive GERALDTON WA 6530 
Locked Bag 103 GERALDTON WA 6531 
Telephone (08) 9956 2170  
 
Carnarvon Campus 
6 Camel Lane CARNARVON WA 6701 
PO Box 961 CARNARVON WA 6701 
Telephone (08) 9941 0100 
Facsimile (08) 9941 0170 
 

Exmouth Campus 
Maidstone Crescent EXMOUTH WA 6707 
PO Box 32 EXMOUTH WA 6707 
Telephone (08) 9949 2624 
Facsimile (08) 9949 2278 
 
Wiluna Campus 
Mudjon Street WILUNA WA 6646 
Telephone (08) 9956 2881 
Facsimile (08) 9921 7705 

 
Visit our website 
 
http://www.durack.edu.au 

 

http://www.durack.edu.au/
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Statement of Compliance 
 
 

Hon Murray Cowper, MLA 
Minister for Training and Workforce Development 
12th Floor, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH WA 6005 
 
 
 
In accordance with Section 54 of the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 and 
section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and 
presentation to Parliament the Annual Report for Durack Institute of Technology for the 
year ended 31 December 2012. 
 
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Public Sector Commission’s Annual Reporting Framework 
(February 2012). 
 
 
 

 
Malcolm Smith 
Chairperson 
Durack Institute of Technology Governing Council 
14 March 2013 
 

Bert Beevers 
Managing Director 
Durack Institute of Technology  
14 March 2013 
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Governing Council Chair’s Report 

In many ways, 2012 marked a mini turning point for Durack with 
several significant new projects approved and funded, new 
academic initiatives undertaken and the establishment of a 
detailed and well reasoned business plan that will and has set the 
course for the successful future development of the Institute well 
into the next decade. 

The business plan is the collaborative work of Institute directors, 
senior management, and staff, who willingly gave much of their 
own time, experience and knowledge of the region to develop 
this detailed and very well researched and imaginative strategy. 

Three new projects are well advanced with planning and with funding approved through Royalties 
for Regions, State and Federal sources for a $9 million Centre for Resources Sector and Workplace 
Training, $15 million for a new Centre for Health Industries Training and Workforce Development 
and a new Aboriginal Cultural and Learning Centre that will become part of the existing Durack 
campus in Geraldton. 

Planning for increased commercial activities in line with the continuing drive for both private and 
government providers to become more commercially viable and less reliant on mainstream 
government funding is well established with the formation of the recently formed “Business Review 
Working Group” at Durack. This is an excellent initiative and will reap long term sustainable benefits 
for the Institute. 

Another excellent initiative was the formation of a new ‘Board of Studies’ that will oversee new 
levels of quality of delivery of services and all learning and training programs at Durack campuses 
within the region. An improved literacy and numeracy program has also been introduced that is now 
available for all students and particularly for apprentices. 

Durack is reporting strong financial results and management and is in good shape going into the year 
ahead despite budget constraints and reductions. I would acknowledge and thank members of the 
Finance Audit and Risk Management Committee (FARM) for their diligence and clear, comprehensive 
reporting of all of financial matters affecting the Institute. 

Durack was represented within a delegation from the City of Greater Geraldton that was invited to 
China during the year as part of a Sister City relationship that has been created to foster and build 
business, cultural and education links with Western Australia’s biggest trading partner. We are 
excited at the prospect of closer ties with the Chinese people and its economy and the potential the 
vast China market offers Durack, Geraldton and the Mid West. 

Durack’s regional campuses at Exmouth, Carnarvon, Wiluna and the Batavia Coast Maritime Institute 
are progressive and well managed and I acknowledge with thanks the efforts of those managements. 

Again, without any doubt at all, the strong performance of Durack is due to the professional work 
and dedication of its directors and staff under the wise leadership of the Managing Director Bert 
Beevers. 

I would also like to thank and congratulate all members of the Governing council who give so 
generously of their time and experience. 

 
 
 
 

Malcolm Smith 
Chairperson 
Durack Institute of Technology Governing Council 
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Managing Director’s Report 

2012 was another year of strong enrolment growth and positive 
outcomes for Durack. 

With growth averaging 9% per year over the past four years, in 2012 
Durack added a further 7 higher level qualifications to its scope of 
delivery to meet the emerging opportunities to service regional clients 
through the provision of pathways to higher education programs 
and/or employment.  In tandem, a comprehensive e-capability strategy 
was commenced that will be implemented throughout 2013 and 2014. 

Significant increases in workplace-based, online and RPL delivery were 
achieved, resulting in 39% of the Institute’s delivery provided via 
flexible, client focussed training arrangements in 2012.   

During 2012, Durack maintained its student completion, client satisfaction and graduate outcomes 
indicators above the State average. Another achievement was that once again Durack was a finalist 
in the Large Training Provider of the Year Award, four times over the past four years. Durack’s focus 
on energy and water savings over the past three years also paid off, reducing its energy costs by 10% 
and water by 80%, despite an increase in student numbers of 36% over this period.  

With the strong possibility of significant demand for training and workforce development in many 
occupations associated with resources sector developments in the Midwest, particularly in the 
mining and gas extraction fields, Durack placed great emphasis on planning and developing strategic 
partnerships with key stakeholders during 2012.  These efforts have brought to fruition a new 
Resources Sector training portfolio, a significant amount of related training and assessment in 
mining workplaces; Memoranda of Understanding with mining and gas companies and their service 
providers. 

These developments have resulted in Durack being awarded $24,020,000 to construct new training 
facilities for the Resources Sector, Health, Education and Community Services and Aboriginal Cultural 
and Learning Centre; a fantastic outcome for the whole of the Midwest and Gascoyne regions.  
Construction will start late 2013 with buildings being completed from mid-2014 through to early 
2015. 

I thank and congratulate all Durack staff for their commitment and contributions during 2012.  
Contributions that impacted positively on the lives of about 6,000 students and their families, friends 
and workplaces.  The outcomes achieved are a credit to all Institute staff that worked together to 
plan and deliver a wide variety of programs and raise the profile of Durack. 

I also extend my appreciation to our valued industry partners and sponsors for their support and 
investment in our students and this region.  Their foresight is to be applauded. 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the efforts of the Chair of Durack’s Governing Council and his 
dedicated Councillors for their invaluable input, expertise and guidance which ensures Durack 
Institute of Technology is responsive to this region’s needs.  

 

 

 
 
Bert Beevers 
Managing Director 
Durack Institute of Technology  
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Overview 

Executive Summary 

Vision, Mission and Values 

Vision 
Aspire  І  Achieve  
 

Mission 
We will provide training opportunities that 
contribute to the development of 
individuals, enterprises and communities 
of the Central West region. 
 

Values 
Staff are introduced to the values of the 
Institute through an induction process with 
these further reinforced through the Staff 
Code of Conduct and reflected in 
management systems. Our values are: 

Quality 
We strive for improvement 

Creativity 
We value the creativity of our staff and 
embrace innovation 

Customer Service 
We provide excellence in training and 
services 

Collaboration 
We work together and communicate 
openly and honestly 

Responsibility 
We seek opportunities and take 
responsibility for our actions 

Respect 
We respect others and value the strength 
diversity brings 
 

Strategic Directions 
The Institute strives to deliver high quality 
training opportunities that ensure industry 
has access to a skilled and job ready 
workforce and that training provides 
individuals with the necessary skills to 
capitalise on the opportunities the region 
presents.   

The Durack Institute of Technology 
Strategic Plan 2010 – 2013, Aspire І 
Achieve: future opportunities identifies 
seven strategic directions that assist in 
achieving this: 
 

 Meeting the Training and Skills Needs 
of the Central West Region 

 Develop Networks and Partnerships. 

 Increase Opportunities for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander People 
through Training 

 Provide Excellent Support Services. 

 Value and Invest in Our People 

 Seek Opportunities to Increase 
Revenue and Decrease Costs 

 Assist Clients to Transition to 
Employment 

 

Our Commitment to Quality 
Durack’s approach to quality is Institute-
wide, embedding and supporting quality 
throughout the Institute’s core business 
practices with the philosophy:  
 
“Striving for excellence in our work, 
resulting in a positive outcome for our 
clients.”  
 
Quality at Durack consists of the  

 Understand 

 Collaborate 

 Respond 

 Review and 

 Celebrate 
cycle of continuous improvement and 
integrates the standards of the AQTF. This 
approach assists Durack in achieving its 
Strategic Directions, Mission and Vision. It 
is important that the quality cycle at 
Durack becomes thoroughly embedded 
throughout the Institute in order to 
develop a culture of continuous quality 
improvement. 
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Campus Locations 
The Midwest (includes Murchison), and 
Gascoyne regions collectively make up the 
Central West region of Western Australia, a 
large geographical area covering more than 
640,000 square kilometres.  
 
Durack Institute of Technology is the major 
provider of vocational education and 
training in the Central West region. Durack 
has two campuses in Geraldton, one of 
which includes the specialist Batavia Coast 
Maritime Institute; and campuses at 
Carnarvon, Exmouth and Wiluna.  
 
 

 

Training Delivery  
In 2012 Durack Institute of Technology experienced significant growth for the third 
consecutive year.  The number of hours of publicly funded training (Profile) being delivered 
has increased by 40.4% since 2008. Durack continues to focus on increasing delivery in the 
priority areas of flexible delivery, higher AQF qualifications and Aboriginal, Skill Shortage and 
Employment-based training. 
 
Achievement of Training Delivery (Profile), counted as Student Curriculum Hours (SCH): 

 
 

2012 Planned 2012 Achieved % Achieved 

1,200,000 1,214,749 101.23% 

Highlights: 

 9.0% overall increase in Flexible Delivery 

 41.1% growth in Work Place Assessment 

 13.9 % increase in students enrolled in Certificate IV and higher level courses. 

 9.6% increase in Aboriginal students enrolled in Certificate III and higher level 
courses 
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Achievement of non-profile training counted as Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) and 
expressed as a percentage of total Institute delivery. 
 

2012 Non-Profile SCH % of total Institute SCH 

137,493 11.32% 

Highlight: 

 28.9% increase in the delivery of non-profile SCH. 
 
Achievement of Flexible Delivery (Profile), counted as Student Curriculum Hours (SCH): 

 
 

 
2012 

Achieved 
% of total 

SCH (Profile) 

Flexible Delivery (includes RPL & WPA) 452,976 37.29% 

Recognised Prior Learning (RPL) 130,518 10.74% 

Work Place Assessment (WPA) 264,349 21.76% 

 

Achievement of Higher Level Qualifications (Profile), counted as Student Curriculum Hours 
(SCH): 

 

 

Qualification 
2012 

Planned 
2012 

Achieved 
% of total 

SCH (Profile) 

Total Certificate IV and Above 252,395 284,371 23.41% 
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Achievement of Aboriginal Training (Profile), counted as Student Curriculum Hours (SCH): 
 

 
 

Qualification 
2012 

Planned 
2012 

Achieved 
% of total  

SCH (Profile) 

All Qualifications 169,958 190,518 15.68% 

Certificate IV and Above NA 15,748 1.30% 

 
Achievement of Employment Based Training and Skills Shortage Institutional (Profile), 
counted as Student Curriculum Hours (SCH): 

 

 
 

 
2012 

Planned 
2012 SCH 

% of SCH 
(Profile) 

Employment Based Training (EBT) 156,400 166,378 13.70% 

Skills Shortage Institutional (SSI) 517,220 662,152 54.51% 

 
Please Note: SSI targets can show quite a variance from year to year as they are primarily 
dependent on the number of qualifications listed in the Priority Institutional Qualifications 
List and also fluctuates based on student enrolments. 

  

0 

15,000 

30,000 

45,000 

60,000 

75,000 

90,000 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Aboriginal Training 
2008 - 2012 

Cert I SCH 

Cert II SCH 

Cert III SCH 

Cert IV SCH 

Diploma SCH 

Adv. Diploma SCH 

0 

100,000 

200,000 

300,000 

400,000 

500,000 

600,000 

700,000 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

EBT & SSI Delivery 
2008 - 2012 

EBT SCH 

SSI SCH 



 

 
 12 

Client Satisfaction  
Durack Institute of Technology values client feedback and actively seeks feedback to inform 
the continuous improvement of training and assessment, client services, and management 
of operations. All Durack staff are responsible for utilising the feedback provided to inform 
and implement continuous improvement activities. 
 
In 2012, methods for collecting feedback included: 

 Quality Feedback Stations 

 Feedback link on Institute website and student portal 

 Student surveys 

 Industry surveys 

 Complaints 

 Industry consultation 
 
In the annual West Australian 2012 Student Satisfaction Survey, when students were asked 
“Overall, how satisfied were you with your course?” 87.7% stated they were either 
“satisfied” or “very satisfied.” 

Source: 2012 WA TAFE Student Satisfaction Survey, conducted by Paterson Market Research 
for the Department of Training and Workforce Development. 
 
Very positive client satisfaction results continue to be reported for Durack in the Learner 
Questionnaire. Results in key areas include: 
 

Question 2010 2011 2012 

Overall, I am satisfied with the training.1 96% 97% 95% 

Trainers had an excellent knowledge of the subject 
content.1 

95% 97% 96% 

The training focused on relevant skills.1 96% 97% 97% 

Training organisation staff respected my background and 
needs.1 

97% 95% 97% 

 
Notes: 
1 Percentage reported is those students responding either “strongly agree” or “agree” 
Source: 2012 Learner Questionnaire, conducted internally by Durack Institute of Technology 
for the Training Accreditation Council. 
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Awards and Recognitions 

Student Achievements 
Durack recognises the importance of celebrating the success of their students, as student 
achievements reflect the success of the Institute. Outstanding students are presented with 
awards at the annual Durack Institute of Technology Graduation and Awards Events. A 
number of these award recipients went on to take part in the Vocational awards at the State 
level. Major Award winners in 2012 were: 
 

Stacey Bonney 
2011 Aboriginal Student of the Year 
Diploma of Enrolled Nursing 
Sponsor: Rio Tinto  
 

Cassius Robinson 
2011 Carnarvon Aboriginal Student of the Year 
Certificate I in Gaining Access to Training & Education 
Certificate II in Rural Operations 
Sponsor: Rio Tinto 
 

Stacey Bonney 
2011 Vocational Student of the Year 
Diploma of Enrolled Nursing 
Sponsor: Mid West Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
 

Amanda Berkhout 
2011 Trainee of the Year 
Certificate III in Business 
Sponsor: Market Creations 
 

Emma Barndon 
2011 Apprentice of the Year 
Certificate III in Hairdressing 
Sponsor: Rotary Club of Geraldton 
 
The following students were recognised through awards external to Durack: 
 

Jeremy Baietta  
2012 Western Australia Chef Apprentice Awards 
Certificate III in Commercial Cookery 
Bronze Award 
 

Rhyse Moroney 
2012 WorldSkills National Competition 
Certificate III in Brick/Blocklaying 
1 of 3 Western Australia Representatives 
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Staff Achievements 
Sharon Johns, Lecturer Children’s Services 
Lecturing Excellence Award 
For demonstrating excellence in delivery practice that places the student at the centre of 
learning and an outstanding commitment to developing industry links and professional 
knowledge. 
 

Ben Freer, Lecturer Plumbing 
Rising Star Lecturing Award 
For demonstrating high quality teaching practices through his integration of instructional 
intelligence strategies into delivery and his commitment to developing quality delivery and 
assessment practices through industry based projects. 
 

Kristen Ditchfield, Residential Administration Officer 
Client Service Award 
In recognition of her friendly, engaging, dedicated and unconditional approach to quality 
customer service and her ongoing commitment to providing exceptional support to internal 
and external clients. 
 

Karen Watts, Training Director Health, Education and Community Services 
Leadership Award 
In recognition of her excellent role modelling and mentoring strategies and a commitment 
to empowering individuals to achieve organisational goals. 
 

The Community Services, Aged Care and Sport & Recreation Team 
High Performing Team Award 
In recognition of their exceptional rapport within their team and delivery of training and 
student welfare initiatives that are above and beyond expectation. 
 

Other Achievements 
Throughout 2012, Durack Institute of Technology’s commitment to quality training and 
services were recognised through a variety of accolades: 
 

WA Training Award 
Durack was a finalist in the Large Training Provider of the Year category at the 2012 WA 
Training Awards.  
 

Water Corporations Waterwise Business Awards  
Durack was the winner of the Platinum Award, which recognises organisations who have 
improved water efficiency of more than 50% over the past three years. This award is part of 
the Water Corporations Water Efficiency Management Plan (WEMP). 
 

Catering Institute of (WA) Gold Plate Awards. 
Durack’s training restaurant, The Zeewijk Restaurant, was a finalist in the 2012 Catering 
Institute of (WA) Gold Plate Awards in the category of ‘Restaurant within a Training 
Establishment’. This was particularly notable as this was the first time that either Durack or 
indeed the Central West region has been nominated in this category. 
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Operational Structure  
Organisational Structure  
Durack Institute of Technology is a statutory authority delivering vocational education and 
training. The responsible Minister is the Hon Murray Cowper MLA, Minister for Training and 
Workforce Development; Corrective Services. The Governing Council is the Accountable 
Authority and the Managing Director is the Chief Executive Officer who is supported by a 
Corporate Executive. 
 

Governing Council 
The Durack Institute of Technology Governing Council comprises a Chair, Deputy Chair and 
members appointed by the Minister as representatives of the local industry and the 
community. Governing Council members as of 31 December 2012 were: 
 
Mr Malcolm Smith (Chair) 
Consultant 
Community Representative 

Mr Terry Brennan 
WA Country Health Service (Indigenous) 
Industry Representative 

Ms Leanne Sice (Deputy Chair) 
WA Country Health Service 
Industry Representative 

Mr Bill Headley 
Midwest Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
Industry Representative 

Mr Ron Ashplant 
City of Greater Geraldton Councillor 
Community Representative 

Mr Greg Keading 
Consultant 
Industry Representative 

Ms Susan Shaw 
Principal Geraldton Grammar School 
Community Representative 

Mrs Christine Rafanelli 
Da Vinci’s Tile Gallery 
Industry Representative 

Mr Bert Beevers 
Durack Institute of Technology 
Managing Director 

Ms Yvonne Messina  
Consultant 
Community (Regional) Representative 

Mr Steve Cooper 
Durack Institute of Technology 
Executive Officer 

 

 
Corporate Executive has overall responsibility for the day-to-day operations of the Institute 
and undertakes strategic planning for the future direction of the Institute.  The following 
were members of Corporate Executive as of 31 December 2012. 
 

Name Position 

Mr Bert Beevers Managing Director 

Ms Jo Payne Director Training 

Mr Steve Cooper Director Organisational Effectiveness 

Mr David Cohen Director Corporate Services 
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Durack’s organisational chart illustrates the interconnectedness of Durack’s three 
directorates and subsequent divisions. Durack has a team based organisational structure 
and a culture reflective of our values (refer to page 8 for Durack’s Values) that encourage 
staff to develop flexible and innovative approaches to meeting client needs. This dynamic 
structure has provided Durack with the ability to continually respond to the changing needs 
of the region.  

Durack Institute of Technology Organisational Chart 

 
 
The roles of Durack’s three directorates are as follows: 
 
Training Directorate 
The Training directorate develops and delivers a range of training and assessment programs 
that are designed to meet the needs of clients and meet the workforce development needs 
of the region’s employers.  There are seven training delivery portfolios within the 
Directorate. 
 
Organisational Effectiveness Directorate  
The Organisational Effectiveness directorate provides a range of services that engage and 
support clients, industry and the community throughout the Central West region. This area 
also provides organisational development through a range of strategic planning and 
performance management services, and maintains the organisation's quality culture. 
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Corporate Services Directorate  
The Corporate Services directorate develops and implements systems and processes that 
support the business and administrative environment of the Institute, ensuring the 
organisation fulfils its statutory requirements and develops the capacity of Durack’s 
workforce. 

Governance Structure 
The Institute has in place an effective corporate governance structure that focuses on 
achieving the Strategic Directions of the Institute and managing strategic risks. 
 

Training Delivery  Quality

Workforce and 

Organisational 

Development 

Business 

Development

Asset and 

Infrastructure 

Management

Occupational Safety 

and Health 

Industry and 

Community 

Engagement

Governing Council

The governing body which has the authority to 

perform the functions of the organisation and 

govern its operations and affairs, in 

accordance with the Vocational Education and 

Training Act 1996 – Section 42.

Corporate Executive

Oversees the day-to-day 

operations of the Institute and 

is responsible for 

implementing Durack’s 

Strategic Directions.

Chairs Group

Oversees the governance structure and 

ensures the lateral communication 

between the seven governance 

committees.

Finance, Audit and Risk 

Management Committee

Advises on finance, investments, 

asset management, insurance and 

risk management.

Organisational Structure 

Committee

Ensures the organisation’s 

structure serves the achievement 

of its Strategic Directions and 

required outcomes.

Governance   Committees

 

The structure includes seven Governance Committees that cover all areas of the Institute’s 
operations and are underpinned by sustainability principles, research and continuous 
improvement. The flow of information between Corporate Executive and the Governance 
Committees is two-way: Governance Committees are informed of key strategic information 
and advice through the Chairs Group and the Governance Committees disseminate 
information to Corporate Executive, the Chairs Committee and other committees as 
required. 

As part of the Institute’s continuous improvement processes the governance structure was 
reviewed in 2012 to ascertain if all committees were meeting the strategic directions and 
key focus areas of the Institute. Two committees were identified for further review: 

 Industry and Community Engagement (ICE): The objectives and Terms of Reference were 
unclear to committee members and therefore not addressing the strategic directions 
and key focus areas. It was also identified that there was duplication of outcomes with 
other governance committees. The decision was that the ICE committee was no longer 
working effectively and therefore a new committee titled ‘Client Engagement’ would be 
formed and new terms of reference developed for commencement of meetings in 2013. 

 Business Development (BD): It was identified that a majority of the objectives from this 
committee were being captured in the Training Delivery committee. The membership of 
both these committees was also very similar. The decision was to amalgamate the BD 
committee with the Training Delivery committee which would be retitled the Training 
Delivery Management (TDM) committee. The TDM committee would adopt new Terms 
of Reference that included objectives from the BD committee and the standing agenda 
to include business development for commencement of meetings in 2013.  
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Board of Studies 
In 2012 the need for a peak academic group to provide educational leadership including 
advice to the organisation on developments in VET policy was identified. This group will take 
responsibility for ensuring the quality and rigour of training delivery and assessment 
products, as well as, providing the necessary directions that will ensure that a contemporary 
and highly skilled VET workforce is available to service Durack’s clients. The Institute has 
previously had such a committee and it was decided to re-instate the Board of Studies with 
revised Terms of Reference that reflects the changing academic environment. A 
consultation process was undertaken and a draft Terms of Reference presented to 
Corporate Executive and the combined Chairs of the Institute’s governance committees. The 
Terms of Reference were endorsed and the key areas of responsibility for the new Board of 
Studies include: 

 Academic management (management of the Scope of Registration) 

 Maintaining academic quality and standards 

 VET policy and directions 

 Workforce development  

 Support structures and systems 

Membership of the Board of Studies reflects the key academic leadership roles within the 
organisation including Principal Lecturers, Director Training, Manager Policy and Planning 
and representatives of the training delivery portfolios. 
 

Risk Management 
Durack Institute of Technology recognises that risk is inherent in all business activities. The 
identification and management of risk is seen as an integral part of Institute planning, 
review and management practices. The Institute is committed to managing these risks to 
ensure our objectives are achieved whilst minimising any adverse impact to Institute 
operations. 

Key Legislation 
Durack Institute of Technology complies with the following legislation in carrying out its 
functions and activities: 
 
Copyright Act 1968; 
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003; 
Disability Services Act 1993; 
Equal Opportunity Act 1984; 
Education Act 2004; 
Electoral Act 1907; 
Financial Management Act 2006; 
Freedom of Information Act 1992; 
Industrial Relations Act 1979; 
Industrial Training Act 1975; 
Legal Deposit Act 2012 
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993; 
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984; 
Privacy Act 1988; 

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003; 
Public Sector Management Act 1994; 
Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972; 
Sex Discrimination Act 1984; 
Skilling Australia's Workforce Act 2005 
State Records Act 2000; 
State Supply Commission Act 1991; 
Racial Discrimination Act 1975; 
Vocational Education and Training Act 1996; 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981; and 
Working with Children (Criminal Record 
Checking) Act 2004. 
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Performance Management Framework 
Outcome Based Management Framework 
Durack’s mission is to provide training opportunities that contribute to the development of 
individuals, enterprises and communities of the Central West region.  This is in line with the 
government’s strategic goals. 

The following framework shows the relationship between government goals, agency level 
desired outcomes and services. Further information on achievements and progress is 
contained throughout this report. 
 
Government Goal:  Outcomes Based Service Delivery 
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians. 

A
ge

n
cy

 L
ev

el
 

Desired 
Outcome 

The provision of vocational education and training services to meet 
the community and industry training needs within the Central West 
region 

Desired 
Services 

 Deliver nationally accredited training courses from Foundation to 
Advanced Diploma 

 Apprenticeships and traineeships 
 Deliver flexible training in a variety of settings and provide a 

range of delivery modes. 
 Provide learning pathways that offer opportunities for 

achievement at higher AQF levels. 
 Design and deliver customised fee for service training programs 

Government Goal:  Stronger Focus on the Regions 
Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and economic development to 
improve the overall quality of life in remote and regional areas. 

A
ge

n
cy

 
Le

ve
l 

Desired 
Outcome 

Provide quality training services to regional communities in the Mid 
West and Gascoyne. 

Desired 
Service 

 Provide infrastructure, staff and equipment to facilitate the 
delivery of high quality training. 

Government Goal:  Social Environmental Responsibility 
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term benefit of the State. 

A
ge

n
cy

 
Le

ve
l 

Desired 
Outcome 

Embed sustainability practices and “green skills” into training 
delivery. 

Desired 
Service 

 Embed and support sustainability throughout our business 
practices. 

 

Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework 
Durack Institute of Technology’s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change 
during 2012. 
 

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies 
Durack receives its annual funding allocation from the State Government through a resource 
agreement (Delivery and Performance Agreement) with the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development. The Institute reports to the Department for outcomes under that 
agreement.  
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Agency Performance 

Report on Operations 
 

Actual Results versus Budget Targets 
Summary of Financial Targets 
Further details are provided in the Financial Statements commencing on page 44. 
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators 
Further details are provided in the Key Performance Indicators commencing on Page 93. 
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Achievement against Strategic Directions 

The following provides information regarding Durack’s Strategic Directions and 
achievements in the key focus areas identified for 2012. Institute achievements contribute 
to the Government Goals of Outcomes Based Service Delivery, Focus on the Regions and 
Social and Environmental Responsibility. 

 

Strategic Direction 1 – Meeting the Training and Skills Needs of the Central West 
Region 
Informed by consultation with businesses and communities the Institute will provide 
contemporary vocational training and assessment services that meet the needs of the 
Central West region and ensures an appropriately skilled and job ready workforce. 

Increasing the Range of Training and Delivery 
During 2012, Durack addressed training priorities relating to the development of a skilled 
workforce by increasing delivery at AQF Certificate III and above levels. In 2012, 25 
qualifications were added to the Institute’s Scope of Registration, of which 14 were 
Certificate III level and above qualifications. 

The demand for flexibility in training and assessment continues to grow and Durack 
addresses this through an ongoing commitment to provide flexible programs catering to the 
diverse needs and interests of industry and the community. As a result, in 2012 there has 
been a further increase in flexible delivery with approximately 37% of Durack’s overall 
training delivered via flexible delivery methods. Workplace assessment has shown the most 
significant growth in SCH with a 41.18% increase from 2011 to 2012. Notably, since 2008 the 
delivery via flexible methods has had a significant growth with an increase of 197%. 

Growth in flexible delivery is evident in the newly established Resources Industry portfolio 
at Durack that has been successful in growing its client base throughout 2012 with a 
significant number of new and continuing partnerships. Courses have been individually 
tailored to meet the needs of each client through a variety of flexible delivery modes, in 
particular work place assessment. 

Industry Standard Facilities and Equipment to Meet Training Needs 
Throughout 2012 Durack continued the maintenance of facilities and equipment to ensure 
the ongoing availability of high quality, industry standard facilities for delivery at all 
campuses. 

It is essential that high quality training facilities are available in order to address increasing 
student numbers and to maintain the necessary standard of delivery environment. In 2012 
Durack was successful in applying for funding through State Government’s Royalties for 
Regions for a number of major building projects. 

 The Centre for Health Industries Training and Workforce Development has been funded 
to the value of $15.02 million. The funding provided will build three separate facilities at 
the Geraldton Campus on Fitzgerald Street, Geraldton. 
 Centre for Health, Education and Community Services 
 Aboriginal Cultural and Learning Centre 
 Extension to the existing Hairdressing and Beauty Therapy facilities, to increase 

training capacity. 
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 The Centre for Resources Sector Workforce Training (CRSWT) has been funded to the 
value of $9 million, and is to be located on 7.5 hectares of land at the City of Greater 
Geraldton’s Airport Technology Park. 

Further details of the above capital works can be found on pages 99-100 of this Annual 
Report. 

Apprenticeship Delivery 

Electrical 
Durack identified an opportunity to improve the management of apprentices and in late 
2012 took up the opportunity to participate in the pilot of a software program, ‘Managing 
Apprentice Progression’ (MAP). The program fundamentally manages apprentices’ 
progression and is committed to starting electrical apprenticeships with a view to increasing 
successful completion rates. The Institute has entered into an agreement with E-Oz for 15 
stage one apprentices commencing in 2013.  

This will involve ensuring that there is a ‘good fit’ between the apprentice and the training 
program, the job and the employer and is completed before the apprenticeship begins to 
ensure that high quality support services are available throughout the apprenticeship. 

Industry mentors will oversee the process and will be available to advise and assist 
candidates on the technical and practical requirements of training and working in the 
industry, as well as providing mentoring and pastoral care to participating apprentices. 

Mentors will also provide a ‘readiness’ assessment, so that candidates may identify and 
address potential barriers to success before they begin their apprenticeship. This will cover 
the individual learner’s levels of language, literacy and numeracy (LLN). 

Experience has shown that apprentice candidates who meet the requirements of the LLN 
scale, and have been identified by industry as ‘best equipped to achieve competency’, have 
significantly higher completion rates. 

Automotive 
The Automotive Department devised a project whereby Durack purchased six different 
vehicles that would be specially modified for training purpose. The project parameters 
required that students from different trade areas assisted with the modifications including 
the Pre-apprenticeship in Schools (PAIS) students from various local high schools both in the 
metal fabrication and automotive areas and apprentices in metal fabrication and 
automotive.  

The project requirement was that the vehicles needed to be modified but remained intact 
mechanically to allow the automotive students to work on real life situations including 
diagnostics, servicing, air-conditioning and electrical fault finding and repair. This project has 
been extremely successful and has allowed Durack to deliver training at the highest level 
due to the flexibility provided by these vehicles. 
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Strategic Direction 2 – Develop Networks and Partnerships 
Networks and partnerships with businesses, employers of trainees and apprentices, service 
providers and communities play an integral role in enabling the Institute to provide training 
and assessment services that meet the needs of the Central West region.  The Institute is 
committed to maintaining and growing networks and partnerships to ensure continued high 
quality and innovative service provision throughout the region. 

Training and Education 
DEEWR employment projections show employment of Vocational Education Teachers is 
expected to increase by 2,200 (or 6.2 per cent) by 2016-171.  In response to this forecast 
Durack has restructured the TAE40110 Certificate IV in Training and Assessment to enable 
flexible delivery modes such as external studies, night courses, block delivery, recognition of 
prior learning and combinations of these modes, to increase accessibility to the 
qualification.  

The success of shifting to flexible delivery is evident in the 165% increase in delivery of the 
Certificate IV in Training and Assessment from 2011 to 2012. Employers’ support of the new 
model also enabled Durack to establish itself as a fee-for-service provider in training and 
assessment in 2012, delivering successful programs tailored to the resource and 
infrastructure industry. Key highlights during 2012 follow: 

Delivering Training to the Resources and Infrastructure Sector 
Collaboration between Durack and Mt Gibson Iron resulted in the construction of a block 
delivery model of the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment which catered for the 
constraints of Mt Gibson’s onsite work schedules. The qualification and units of competency 
were contextualised for the Mt Gibson’s Tallering Peak mine site. The program was 
positively received by the employers and candidates, which resulted in the qualification 
being delivered onsite on three occasions throughout 2012. 

Upskilling Secondary School Teachers 
Durack has an excellent history of working with schools throughout the Central West region 
to deliver a broad range of vocational and education programs to secondary school 
students. In 2012 Durack worked with Geraldton Senior College and Nagle Catholic College 
to provide training programs to upskill teachers in the Certificate IV in Training and 
Assessment. Again, flexible programs were customised to meet the needs of the schools and 
the individual candidates. This program will ensure that schools are well placed to offer 
diverse pathways to their students through Trade Training Centres and Auspicing 
Agreements in the future. 

Resource Sector 
Durack continues to increase its capacity to service the expanding mining sector through the 
development and implementation of quality assurance partnerships. Through these 
partnerships, mining and resource sector organisations have increased the capacity of their 
internal training departments by accessing the expertise and experience of the Institute. 
This innovative approach not only enables the partnering organisations to develop onsite 
training programs specific to each individual company/mine site but ensures programs align 
to nationally recognised qualifications. 

In the past year, Durack has been successful in growing its client base with organisations 
such as Mt Gibson Mining Limited, BHP Billiton Iron Ore, Central Earthmoving, WBHO Civil 

                                                           
1
 Australian Government. (November 2011). ANZSCO 2422 Vocational Education Teachers. 
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and Karara Mining. Some programs that the Institute has implemented in order to assist 
with the workforce development needs of the Resource sector are as follows: 

 Recognised Prior Learning (RPL) for senior staff in Certificate IV in Resource Processing. 

 Work Place Assessment (WPA) training pathway to ‘Resource Industry Competency’. 
This pathway includes four qualifications: Certificate II and III in Resource Processing and 
Certificate II and III in Surface Extraction Operations. 

 Existing Worker Traineeships (EWTs) in Certificate III in Resource Processing and 
Certificate III in Surface Extraction Operations. 

 Indigenous Traineeships in Certificate II in Resource Processing and Certificate II in 
Surface Extraction Operations. 

 Customised Fee for Service delivery of Certificate II in Resources and Infrastructure Work 
Preparation Course. All participants gained fulltime work placement with Karara Mining 
and have now enrolled in a traineeship in Certificate II in Resource Processing. 

 Customised workplace assessment materials developed for Karara port personnel. 

 Workplace assessment partnerships in Certificate III in Civil Construction with Central 
Earthmoving, Redpaw Services, WBHO Civil and Civil West. 

In 2012 Durack formed a new partnership with Central Desert Native Title Services (CDNTS) 
and Newmont Mines for delivery of training beyond Wiluna. The objective of this 
partnership was to train local people for employment as Indigenous Rangers for Newmont. 
The students undertook a Certificate II in Conservation and Land Management. This 
program was delivered in the Carnarvon Ranges, about 600 kilometres beyond Wiluna. The 
initial program consisted of male participants and a second program for female rangers is 
currently under development. 
 
 

Strategic Direction 3 – Increase Opportunities for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander People through Training 
The Institute is committed to working with Aboriginal2 people to narrow the gap in the 
attainment of skills through the provision of training that increases retention of young 
people in education and training and leads to greater employment outcomes for all 
Aboriginal students.  The Institute seeks to be a best practice provider of training for 
Aboriginal clients and will deliver training that increases life opportunities for Aboriginal 
people. 

Reaching Out Into the Regions 

Murchison High Schools Automotive Program 
In consultation with the Mt Magnet, Meekatharra and Cue High Schools, Durack designed 
an automotive program to deliver a Certificate I level course to regionally based students. 
The course was delivered in four week-long blocks at Durack, using the full automotive 
facilities in the workshops, and a week-long block at the Cue High School.  

The course focussed on employability skills across all facets of the automotive area. Delivery 
needed to be dynamic to capture the attention of the students and fully engage them in 
order that they would learn and enjoy the training. The course provided students with the 
skills necessary for future employment. Eight students completed the course and received a 
Certificate I in Automotive. This was the best result achieved by students from the 

                                                           
2
  The use of the word ‘Aboriginal’ throughout this document respectfully refers to Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander people of Western Australia. 
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Murchison region. In 2013 students will complete a Certificate I in Metal Fabrication at 
Durack. 

Carnarvon 
Durack’s Carnarvon Campus continues to offer a range of programs to re-engage Aboriginal 
people in training through developing their employability skills and building confidence to 
enable students to take the next step to employment. 

In partnership with the Carnarvon Police and Citizens’ Youth Club (PCYC), Durack developed 
a program to improve the LLN and work-readiness skills of a group of disengaged youth. 
Using i-Pads Durack developed an innovative e-learning program using game-based and 
interactive digital resources as an alternative to the more traditional learning strategies that 
have not succeeded in the past. The use of apps and other digital material allows the 
resources used in the delivery program to be easily selected and customised to meet each 
student’s individual needs.  

The program was delivered at the PCYC, providing the opportunity for the participants to be 
mentored by staff and community elders and receive support from a range of services they 
may not otherwise access. 

A work readiness program delivering Certificate II in Resources and Infrastructure was 
delivered at the Carnarvon Campus. This program was developed in partnership with Rio 
Tinto, Employment Mobilisation Unity (EMU) Services, Job Service Australia (JSA) providers 
and the Gascoyne Heritage precinct.  

As part of the project, a key outcome for the community was a boardwalk for the Heritage 
Precinct that was built over the mangroves. 

On the basis of previous successful programs in 2011, Rio Tinto provided guaranteed 
employment outcomes for graduates. 

Wiluna 
In 2012, Durack continued its focus on developing partnerships to improve services within 
the town of Wiluna. The campus provides a focal point for training in an area where there 
are numerous job opportunities, although local people have traditionally faced many 
barriers to employment.  

Training delivery continues to be developed and refined through partnerships with the local 
Aboriginal organisation Ngurra Yuldoo Aboriginal Corporation, MEEDAC CDEP and the local 
JSA providers, Skill Hire and Max Employment.  

MEEDAC staff and Ngurra Yuldoo Aboriginal Corporation members are long-term residents 
of Wiluna and have extensive knowledge of family groups, and cultural and community 
dynamics. This knowledge enables MEEDAC staff and Ngurra Yuldoo Aboriginal Corporation 
members the ability to offer strong guidance and advice in relation to customising training 
and associated activities to accommodate community and individual needs. All training-
related activities in Wiluna are undertaken in close consultation with MEEDAC and Ngurra 
Yuldoo Aboriginal Corporation, ensuring effective use of time and resources, in a culturally 
appropriate manner. 

One successful program brought local Wiluna women together with the delivery of 
Certificate II in Visual Arts and Contemporary Crafts in order to assist them in developing a 
Bush Tucker commercial operation for tourists. The course included competencies in art, 
textiles, multimedia, photography, woodwork and hygienic food preparation. The women 
sourced and prepared the local produce, designed and created marketing materials and sold 
the final product to the tourist market. 
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Learning Pathways and Student Support Strategies 
Durack utilises a number of strategies to provide learning pathways for Aboriginal students 
and encourage students to enter and achieve at higher Australian Qualification Framework 
levels. In addition a range of support strategies are in place to promote participation and 
successful completion of training programs. These include: 

 The Aboriginal Scholarship Program which has been running since 2002 continued in 
2012 and is sponsored by Rio Tinto; 

 Continued delivery of the Aboriginal School Based Training Program; 

 Partnerships with organisations such as the JSA’s to increase opportunities for Aboriginal 
people to access training and re-skilling; 

 Specific programs implemented to assist Aboriginal community members to engage in 
courses delivered in their towns or surrounding areas; 

 Mentors employed to support specific programs; 

 Delivering culturally inclusive, flexible and community based training, customised to 
meet the specific needs of local communities; 

 Customising training projects to incorporate the development and construction of 
community based facilities and infrastructure; 

 Use of auspicing arrangements which enable qualified community members to deliver 
training to people in their community; and 

 Use of local Community Resource Centres facilities and resources. 
 
 

Strategic Direction 4 – Provide Excellent Support Services 
Excellence in learning and assessment is underpinned by excellence in business practices 
and client services. Durack Institute of Technology will optimise the quality and 
opportunities of its delivery and assessment services through effective and efficient 
provision of corporate and client support services.  

Client Satisfaction 
In 2012, Durack continued to develop a strong and positive quality culture that focused on 
client outcomes and continuous improvement. The National Quality Indicators – Learner 
Questionnaire and Employer Questionnaire provides a key mechanism to collect data to 
inform Durack of continual improvement and monitor client satisfaction. Data is monitored 
by the Quality Committee and forms part of the Quality Committee’s key performance 
indicators. Quality Indicator results are reported from the Quality Committee to Corporate 
Executive.  

Organisational Systems and Processes 
Durack embraces continuous improvement and regularly implements improvements to its 
systems and processes. This can occur in a variety of forms, from an individual improving a 
regular task, to a team undertaking a review of a major process or structure within the 
Institute. Some major initiatives undertaken during 2012 are as follows. 

Governance Manager Online Tool 
In 2012, Durack utilised the online tool ‘Governance Manager’ which incorporates the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development’s Governance Framework for State 
Training Providers. This was made available to all State Training Providers to assist them in 
identifying minimum compliance against the framework. The tool also enabled Durack to 
undertake a maturity self assessment whereby key stakeholders evaluated the level of 
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compliance and maturity against each of the principles and elements and identified 
strategies required to meet compliance and the Institute’s level of desired maturity. 
 
Performance Management System 
Late in 2012 Durack launched its new online Performance Development Planning tool. This 
tool will provide a clearer analysis of staff development needs and will also provide staff the 
opportunity to assess their performance against the Institute’s strategic directions, set 
individual goals and identify professional development requirements. 
 
Training Support Services 
The Training Support Services team have implemented a number of initiatives to provide 
direct staff support in the individual training areas.  

 During apprentice block release, a dedicated officer was made available to assist 
lecturers within their areas in the management of apprentices. This ensured a smooth 
transition for the commencement of the apprentices’ training and has alleviated issues 
resulting from large numbers of students. 

 During critical times of the year, extra support was provided to lecturing staff in order to 
ensure timely completion of outstanding attendance rolls and resulting. 

Marketing, Communications and Promotion 
All Durack staff have a responsibility to promote the Institute and Vocational Education and 
Training (VET) through the conduct of business development throughout the Central West 
region. Senior staff attend and actively participate in numerous Department of Training and 
Workforce Development, VET, and Midwest/Gascoyne forums to promote Durack. This 
provided opportunities for strategic input to VET development and fed information back to 
the Institute.  

Durack developed and implemented a range of marketing, communication and promotional 
activities to inform stakeholders and the general community of its training and services.  

For dedicated support, Durack employs a Marketing Coordinator who develops an annual 
marketing, communications and promotional plan. The Marketing Coordinator also provides 
guidance and resources for staff to conduct business development with branded marketing 
material. The Marketing Coordinator visited the Carnarvon and Exmouth campuses twice a 
year to liaise with staff and commit to providing marketing, communications and event 
support. 

Client Services staff regularly attend and participate in external community events and 
expos promoting Durack’s training and services on offer. Durack also hosts numerous events 
throughout the year at various campuses. Examples of major promotional events in 2012 
include: 

Student Award Ceremonies 
Durack conducts annual award ceremonies in Geraldton, Carnarvon and Exmouth to present 
the previous year’s graduating students with their academic awards. The 2012 Geraldton 
awards evening, featuring guest speaker David Wirrpanda, was held at Batavia Hall, 
Geraldton Grammar School. 

Four major student awards were presented including Aboriginal Student of the Year, 
Apprentice of the Year, Trainee of the Year and Vocational Student of the Year, and were 
sponsored to a value of $1000 each by various businesses. All awards are actively promoted 
and open to all students at all campuses.  
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In addition to the major awards, outstanding achievement and encouragement awards for 
individual courses were presented to selected students and are sponsored by industry and 
Durack. In 2012, staff quality awards were also presented at this event. 

Mid West Career Expo 
In August 2012, Durack once again hosted the Mid West Career Expo, principally sponsored 
by the Geraldton Iron Ore Alliance (GIOA). Over 50 exhibitors representing local industry 
attended the expo and showcased their businesses and the careers available within their 
organisations. Various levels of sponsorship were offered to industry, and the following 
organisations participated: 

 Apprentice & Traineeship Co 
 GCo Electrical 
 Geraldton Iron Ore Alliance 
 Geraldton Newspapers 
 Geraldton Universities Centre 

 GWN7 
 JobLink Mid West 
 Rio Tinto 
 WAFM/Spirit Radio network 
 Western Power (New Sponsor) 

 
Around 2,000 visitors attended the Expo, of which approximately 1,000 were school 
students from the Mid West. A highlight of the Expo was the demonstration of three 
simulators from QR National (locomotive), Downer EDI (haulpac) and Westrac (road grader). 
These were part of the GIOA exhibit and drew a large amount of attention from Expo 
visitors and the media. Entertainment comprised guest appearances from a variety of reality 
television shows that had industry connections to the training delivered at Durack. The Expo 
closed with an industry function which gave sponsors, exhibitors and Durack staff the 
opportunity to network. 

Business After Hours (BAH) Sundowner Functions 
In August, Durack’s Carnarvon campus hosted the Carnarvon Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry (CCCI) Business After Hours function. Planned to run after the completion of the 
Carnarvon Community Careers & Training Expo, this event was well attended by local 
Chamber members, expo delegates and Durack staff.  The function gave attendees the 
opportunity to view the training delivery areas at the Carnarvon campus. 

In November, Durack’s Geraldton campus hosted the Midwest Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry (MWCCI) Business After Hours function in partnership with Oakajee Port and Rail 
(OPR). The event gave Chamber members and Durack staff an opportunity to meet and 
network with other businesses in the Midwest. Durack’s Managing Director –  
Mr Bert Beevers presented information to the attendees about the future direction of 
Durack’s training delivery and recent capital works funding successes. Other key note 
speakers included OPR’s Chief Executive – Mr John Langoulant. Feedback from attendees 
and the MWCCI was extremely positive, noting it as the best attended BAH function of the 
year. 

Other Campus Events 
In August, Durack’s Wiluna campus was officially opened by Director General – Dr Ruth 
Shean. The opening ceremony was well attended by Durack’s senior management, staff and 
the Wiluna community. The event was significant as a second plaque was unveiled in 
dedication of Mr Ian Markham (deceased); a Durack lecturer committed to providing 
training in horticulture and agriculture within the Wiluna community. Mr Markham was well 
liked by Wiluna campus staff, students and the community. The Markham family attended 
the ceremony and were appreciative of the dedication and plaque.  



 

 
 30 

On the 30th November, Durack’s Art Team held the 30th Anniversary of Durack’s Art 
Exhibition in conjunction with Durack’s Sustainable Art Competition. It was held in the newly 
opened S Block facilities for the first time and was estimated to have 200 attendees. 
Artwork produced by Durack’s past and current students was on display and were on sale.  
The Institute acquired a variety of artwork for its collection which is displayed throughout all 
five campuses. 

Measuring Organisational Performance  

Key Performance Indicators 
A key component of Durack’s Governance Structure is the reporting of Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) which relate to achievement against strategic priorities. To assist 
Governance Committees in identifying their KPIs a tool was developed which outlines 
Durack’s Strategic Directions and key result areas, the Business Plan’s key focus areas and 
the principles of the Governance Framework. The tool maps the responsibility of each of 
these to the relevant governance committee/s and highlights the committee with key 
responsibility. 

Chairpersons are required to report and discuss their Committee’s KPIs at two key reporting 
times per annum. The strategic KPIs and any discussion points are collated and a holistic 
report is presented to Corporate Executive for discussion and further analysis. The 
Managing Director then reports to Governing Council as necessary. The KPIs provide useful 
strategic corporate information to both Corporate Executive and Governing Council to 
inform decision making and manage the Institute’s risks.  

Business Planning 
In accordance with the requirements of the revised VET Act, in 2012, Durack prepared its 
annual Business Plan for submission to the Minister’s office. The Business Plan outlines the 
major priorities and strategies Durack will implement to achieve the national and state goals 
for training and workforce development, and to respond to the regional environment in 
which it operates. 
 
 

Strategic Direction 5 – Value and Invest in Our People 
Through a teams-based organisational culture the Institute seeks to further develop its 
capacity to respond to the challenges of the changing VET market by developing a flexible, 
skilled workforce and creating an effective working environment that encourages innovation 
and excellence.  

Innovative Recruitment 
Durack has recognised the necessity to be flexible and innovative when recruiting new staff.  
Advertising has involved a targeted approach so that potential applicants will easily become 
aware of the employment opportunity and make enquiries.  This has resulted in not only 
more applicants but also applicants that are better suited to the role.  This is critical in the 
current competitive labour market, where the organisation must meet its community and 
service obligations.  It has also enabled Durack to have a pool of suitable applicants that can 
be accessed should the need arise.  In 2012 flexibility was added to the application process 
to increase the potential applicant pool. 
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Strategies for Retention of Staff 
The Western Australian TAFE Lecturers’ General Agreement 2011 continued to provide 
flexibility to support innovative and responsive business approaches. Approximately 60% of 
lecturers at Durack have opted for the Flexible Hours Arrangement. 

New staff undertake a comprehensive induction program to ensure they are welcomed into 
the organisation with a good understanding of its business and expectations.  Inductions 
include Occupational Safety and Health, Human Resources, Organisational Overview, Access 
and Security, Finance, Records, Information Technology and Working with Diversity. 

Durack’s Wellness Program, combined with HBF Corporate membership, continued to be a 
success. In 2012, the program facilitated a range of activities for staff, including onsite 
health checks and additional membership discounts. 

Durack presents Service Awards to staff every five years. Awards recognise staff for their 
length of service through the presentation of a service certificate and a small gift from the 
Institute. Through this initiative staff are thanked for their service throughout their 
employment, rather than just at the cessation. 

Professional Development 
Durack is committed to developing a workforce with the skills required to respond 
effectively to the changing nature of the VET environment. A budget is allocated to staff 
professional development and managed by the Workforce and Organisational Development 
Committee.  

The Committee develops an annual training plan aligned to the Institute’s strategic priorities 
as well as the Teaching, Learning and Assessment Professional Development Program 
priorities for lecturer skills development. The Committee coordinates a monthly training 
calendar, oversees Professional Development days and reviews individual staff applications 
for training. Through these initiatives, professional development opportunities are provided 
for both lecturers and non-teaching staff, to address priority skills development needs and 
to enhance their own career development pathways. Major professional development 
initiatives during 2012 are detailed below. 

Professional Development Days 
The April Professional Development Days titled ‘Aspire and Achieve - Working Together’ 
featured a range of professional development sessions for training delivery and support 
staff, presented by both internal and external presenters. The workshops included 
development of skills and knowledge in the following key areas: 

 Assessment Compliance 
 Participating in a quality audit 
 RPL 
 E-learning 
 Managing student Behaviour 
 Instructional Strategies 
 Inclusivity Awareness 

 Word 2010 Tools 
 Goal Setting 
 Time Management 
 Project Management 
 Coaching Cultures 
 Conflict resolution 

Integrated into the Professional Development Days program was a specific day that had a 
key focus on quality improvement. The quality focused workshops were attended by all 
lecturing staff. The aim was to inform and upskill staff for the AQTF Re-registration in 2012. 
The day consisted of a motivating speaker discussing the requirements of an AQTF audit and 
workshops covering the following topics: 
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 Compliance with the AQTF requirements and the requirements within Training Packages 
or accredited courses, 

 The development of compliant assessment instruments assessment, 

 The review of current procedures within specific support areas to identify process 
improvements, 

 Training in specific area of vocational competency, 

 Validation of assessment tools, 

 Sharing of good practice. 

Professional Development for Lecturers’ Industry Skills  
Throughout the year, lecturers participated in industry specific professional development 
including Information Technology, Air-conditioning, Occupational Health and Safety, 
Community Services, Aquaculture, Literacy, Personal Services, Hospitality, Tourism, Mining, 
Building and Construction, Children’s Services, Civil Engineering, Maritime and 
Management. 

Innovation and e-Learning 
Innovation and e-learning was again a major focus for professional development during 
2012. A series of workshops were provided to staff to support them in developing their skills 
in e-learning and innovative practice. Workshop topics included instructional design 
concepts and skills, instructional e-tools, e-learning design, Moodle, development of EXE 
content, mobile devices, Collaborate for web conferencing, social media in delivery and 
YouTube. Workshops were provided through traditional face-to-face delivery, e-learning 
using Collaborate and ePD workshops provided by WestOne. 

A significant focus for 2012 was the transition to Moodle 2. In addition two projects have 
been facilitated in the Automotive, Electrical, OHS and General Education industry areas to 
develop e-learning programs. 

Tribes Training  
Twenty-four lecturers and support staff attended a two day program on Tribes Training. This 
hands-on training has given lecturers increased skills to develop a positive learning 
environment in the classroom, in particular using collaborative skills for social development. 
Lecturers will have the knowledge of how to develop agreements with their students to 
improve participation and behaviour, particularly with younger students. It has developed 
teaching strategies, in particular the use of reflective questioning. Acquired knowledge of 
group development will be applied to the establishment of group tasks for training and 
assessment purposes. The training also naturally creates a network of colleagues who are 
able to provide support and coaching. 

Literacy, Language and Numeracy in the Trades 
Early in 2012 Durack Institute of Technology automotive and metal fabrication lecturers 
attended a workshop, ‘A question of Literacy’, that focused on a general understanding of 
literacy and how to identify literacy needs for apprentice and pre-apprentice students. 

Lecturers assessed the literacy and numeracy requirements of their Training Packages to 
ascertain the Australian Core Skills Framework (ACSF) level and compared the ACSF level 
requirements to their own assessment tools and handouts. They developed strategies to 
address any identified gaps and looked at ways to provide better assistance to students with 
specific LLN needs. A further workshop was conducted in Semester 2 with this group to 
further develop lecturers’ competencies and assist them in redeveloping many of their 
learning and assessment activities to better meet students’ needs. 
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A group of stage one apprentices participated in an Australian Council for Educational 
Research project to analyse the students ACSF levels. The results were compared to the 
requirements of the qualification and assisted lecturers in the development of strategies for 
specific units of competence. 

Sustainability in Training and Assessment 
Durack recognises that education and training is the core of what we do, and is where our 
leadership can affect the whole community. Durack is investing in professional development 
for staff, new training for our students, and more support so that both our staff and 
students have the skills, knowledge and practical experience of Sustainability. 

Throughout the latter half of 2012, Durack’s Leadership Development Network group was 
involved in surveys, interviews and a series of strategy workshops involving external 
stakeholders. Ideas, strategies and outcomes have now evolved into ‘Stepping Up 
Sustainability - Durack Institute of Technology’s Sustainability Strategy Towards 2015’ due to 
be released in early 2013.  

A key focus area of this strategy is to incorporate sustainability into all training programs by 
2015, to ensure that all students graduate with an increased knowledge of the concepts of 
sustainability and how it directly relates to their specific industry. Twenty-one lecturers 
participated in a number of workshops to gain a sound working knowledge of sustainability 
so that they are able to embed sustainability practices into delivery and assessment. 
Lecturers identified sustainability skills issues in their industry area, and interpreted this in 
relation to their training package, accredited course and the related training documents. 
They then customised their programs to incorporate sustainability skills.  

Speed Tips 
Individual staff showcased their best practice to staff through a variety of short and sharp 
speed tip presentations. This included tips and tools to assist staff in making their jobs easier 
and more innovative in practice. Staff had the opportunity to see a number of presentations 
from a wide range of industry delivery areas. 

Re-Registration Workshops 
In preparation for the 2012 audit by the Training Accreditation Council for the renewal of 
Durack’s registration as a training organisation, 15 workshops were conducted throughout 
Semester One of 2012. The workshops addressed all areas of compliance with the AQTF for 
lecturing staff.  

Occupational Safety and Health - for Managers 
Durack provided annual training sessions in Occupational Safety and Health for managers 
and supervisors that updated legislative knowledge, provided examples of best practice and 
outlined the responsibilities in promoting and ensuring a safe workplace. 

Accountable and Ethical Decision Making (AEDM) 
The Human Resources team continued to provide training in accountable and ethical 
decision making throughout 2012. AEDM involved six modules with a final assessment to 
demonstrate full understanding. The training has been completed by 92% of staff. 

WA Training Forum 
Three staff members presented a session on “Facilitating Aboriginal Employment 
Opportunities in Oil and Gas with Industry Partners" at the annual 2012 Training Forum in 
Perth. Eight lecturers also attended the Training Forum to update their knowledge in 
workforce development. 
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Training and Assessment Qualifications 
Durack is committed to establishing an efficient and responsive workforce through 
encouraging trainers to continue to develop their Vocational Education and Training 
knowledge and skills. In accordance with National Skills Standards Council’s Standards for 
Trainers and Assessors3, Durack has adopted a number of initiatives to provide lecturing 
staff with the opportunity to up-skill to the latest training and assessment qualification. New 
staff are also supported in achieving this qualification. Currently 76% of new and existing 
lecturers have completed or have up-skilled to the new Training and Assessment 
qualification.  

Building Diversity 
The application of the principles of Equal Opportunity is seen as an important part of 
Durack’s processes including ensuring the provision of workplace that is free from 
harassment or discrimination. 

Durack ensures all staff are aware of and are provided with comprehensive information 
relating to Equal Opportunity through formal induction sessions for new staff, formal 
training sessions, presentations at team meetings and awareness raising sessions on staff 
development days. 

The Equity and Diversity Management Plan 2010-2012 contains revised targets. The 
employment of Aboriginal people remains a priority area for Durack even though the 
Institute has consistently reported staffing levels higher than the Public Sector average as 
the proportion of Aboriginal people in the Central West region is markedly higher than the 
state average. This is seen as an opportunity to create a workforce that reflects community 
representation and its client profile. Achievements against the Plan during 2012 included: 

 Management training to improve knowledge of diversity included cultural and disability 
awareness training during staff inductions, 

 Online learning for all staff covering four modules: Discrimination, Bullying, Sexual 
Harassment and Liability, 

 Inclusion of equity and diversity criteria in job description forms as they were reviewed, 

 Publishing of the Equal Employment Opportunity statistics "How do We Compare" on 
the staff intranet. 

Achievement of Staff Equity and Diversity Statistics in 2012 is represented in the following 
table: 
 

% Representation 2009 2010 2011 
2012 

Target 
2012 

Achieved 

Equity Index for Women 59.8% 62.0% 71.2% 75.0% 75.6% 

Women Tiers 2 & 3 33.6% 47.0% 71.2% 48.0% 50.0% 

Indigenous Australians 4.5% 4.2% 5.0% 8.0% 4.6% 

People with Disabilities 1.4% 1.2% 2.5% 3.0% 1.0% 

People from Culturally Diverse Backgrounds 4.8% 6.7% 7.0% 6.5% 6.0% 

Youth (< 25 years) 2.2% 2.7% 4.7% 4.0% 2.4% 

 
  

                                                           
3 National Skills Standards Council. (December 2011). Communiqué 3. 
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Strategic Direction 6 – Seek Opportunities to Increase Revenue and Decrease Costs 
Durack operates in a competitive training environment and is committed to diversifying its 
revenue streams and operating efficiently.  Any profits generated through Institute activities 
are reinvested into the provision of high quality services to all clients throughout the Central 
West region.  

Durack is able to meet the challenges of the increasingly competitive training market and 
respond effectively to industry training demand by setting priorities and focusing on the 
identification of new opportunities for training delivery including new industry areas and 
new delivery products or services. 

Commercial Delivery 
As a reflection of the increasing and diverse demands in the provision of training and 
training support, Durack’s increased its 2011 commercial delivery by 28.9% when compared 
to 2012, thus demonstrating its ability to work closely with industry in order to develop 
appropriate strategies. 

Durack conducted a large number of skills assessments for overseas candidates who have 
applied to live in Australia on 457 Visas. Assessments were in the following trade areas: 
Automotive Vehicle Body Repairs, Heavy Duty Automotive Mechanical (Mobile Plant) and 
Fitting and Machining. Assessments were undertaken both on and offshore and the 
assessors measured the candidates’ competencies against the relevant nationally 
recognised Training Package for each trade. 457 assessments will expand across other trade 
areas in 2013. 

Commercial Partnerships 
In 2012, Batavia Coast Maritime Institute gained NATA (National Association of Testing 
Authorities) accreditation for its Analytical Laboratory. The laboratory will provide students 
with real-life experience working in a commercial laboratory as part of their course and 
ensures students are ‘job-ready’ when they complete training. Durack has signed an 
Agreement with the City of Greater Geraldton to conduct analysis of the water quality 
samples for the City’s Stormwater Harvesting project. This involves collecting water samples 
from approximately 31 bores around Geraldton and providing NATA-accredited analysis of 
the water quality parameters. 

External Funding 
Durack continues to address training and development opportunities supported by external 
funding, such as those offered through the federal Building Australia’s Future Workforce 
package including National Workforce Development Fund, Indigenous Employment 
Programs and various tendering opportunities. Funding obtained through these sources 
augments and supplements funding received through the Delivery and Performance 
Agreement. 

Durack was successful in the tender for the Aged Care Workforce Vocational Education and 
Training (ACWVET) Skill Sets 2012. This project provided funding for skill sets under the 
Community Services training package. In line with these packaging rules the project also 
allows the use of units of competence to address workplace requirements from relevant 
equivalent training packages for personal care workers and nurses, and residential and 
community aged care services. 

The project has provided for flexible training options that recognise both the requirements 
of employers to maintain staffing levels and employees who need to maintain an income 
while upgrading relevant qualifications to meet the needs of a sector that faces significant 
challenges. Durack recognises that Aged Care workers in the Central West region require 
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options that enable them to address further skill development. The methodology for this 
program ensures that participants can reasonably meet the up-skilling requirements of their 
profession and still maintain their employment status. 

Sustainable Practices 
Environmental Sustainable Energy, Water and Waste reduction achievements in 2012 were 
as follows: 

 Durack Institute of Technology implemented an Aquifer Storage Recovery (ASR) System 
in September 2010. Since the implementation of the ASR, Durack has consumed only 
18,237kL of scheme water. By using recharged storm water from our aquifer for 
irrigation of the campus lawns and gardens, Durack has saved more than 56 mega litres 
of scheme water in the past two years, equating to an overall saving of $146,000. 

 Durack reduced its energy consumption in 2012 by 7.65% across its five campuses. The 
most significant decrease was at the Geraldton Campus with a reduction of 130 mega 
watts or 10.24% which equates to a saving of over $32,000.  

 In 2012, Durack produced more than 32 mega watts of renewable energy. Durack’s 
renewable energy systems consists of a 15 metre 2.5kW Wind Turbine and a 15kW, 90 
panel photo voltaic system. The renewable energy system has saved approximately 30 
tonnes of carbon emissions entering the environment. 

 Durack continues to expand and widen the use of an Electronic Document Management 
System (EDMS). EDMS was implemented in April 2008 to manage the Institute's 
corporate records. In 2012, Durack captured electronically more than 43,000 records, an 
increase of 280% over the past four years.  

 

Strategic Direction 7 – Assist Clients to Transition to Employment 
The Institute will expand its services to clients to include advice and assistance in 
undertaking training and assessment that leads to employment outcomes and assist in the 
transition to employment. Durack will increase its capacity in this area through partnerships 
and collaboration with other appropriate stakeholders.  

Durack is a member of the Steering Committee of the Aboriginal Workforce Development 
Centre (AWDC) in Geraldton and works closely with the AWDC to enhance training 
opportunities for Aboriginal people to improve their chances of employment in the region. 

To ensure training and employment needs are informed by local knowledge Durack works in 
consultation and in partnership with local Aboriginal people and organisations. Mechanisms 
for this include the Aboriginal Education, Employment and Training Committee (AEETC) in 
operation at the Geraldton campus, working closely with Community Development and 
Employment Program (CDEP) providers in the region and Aboriginal Services staff who 
consult regularly with communities and organisations. 

Durack continues to work with Job Services Australia and industry to deliver courses for 
their clients and employees that are specifically designed for students to complete and gain 
valuable skills required to commence a career in the mining industry. In 2012, Durack 
worked closely with Karara Mining Limited (KML) to design a tailor made work ready mining 
course for students who wish to gain employment in the mining industry but do not have 
any experience. The Certificate II level course in Resources and Infrastructure contains units 
of competency specific to metalliferous mining as well as additional high risk and WorkSafe 
accreditation such as working at heights, confined space, skid steer loader operator and 
forklift. The course was a three week full-time course and was delivered to a group of 
inexperienced employees prior to them embarking upon their careers with KML. At the 
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completion of the course KML transitioned the group to onsite and have enrolled them into 
a Certificate II in Resource Processing traineeship for 2013. 

Career advice and information remained a priority for Durack in 2012. The Client Services 
team coordinated a range of services aimed at informing potential students, parents and 
agencies such as schools about careers, training and the employment market. Initiatives 
included the following: 

 Durack hosted community and careers Expos at both the Geraldton and Carnarvon 
campuses. The Expos provided information to school students and the general public on 
training, career pathways and employment opportunities including apprenticeships and 
traineeships. Both Expos were well supported by industry and service providers.  

 Durack attended other community events and shows throughout the Central West 
region and presented displays on current course offerings and provided career advice. 

 The Client Services team participated in information talks with schools, parent groups, 
agencies and other service providers such as the Disability Services Commission. 

 Durack delivered ongoing career advice and career pathway planning to students who 
requested support from Client Services. 

 Regular contact and strong partnerships were maintained and created with local 
employment agencies. 

 Durack delivered school based apprenticeship programs to schools throughout the 
Central West region.  

Significant Issues Impacting the Agency 

Current and Emerging Issues and Trends 

Industrial Relations 
The Lecturers Industrial Agreement provides for lecturing staff to enter into a ‘Flexible 
Hours Arrangement’ (FHA) with their employer and receive a 5% salary increase. The 
purpose of the arrangement is to enable lecturers to have more diverse workloads than 
general face to face delivery. Clients are expecting more varied and customised approaches 
to the way they or their staff receive training and the FHA therefore becomes critical to both 
the way Durack operates and our ongoing success. 

Durack is not excluded from the pressures in the labour market and being located in a 
region that includes a range of resource sector activities, makes the attraction and retention 
of staff an ongoing concern. Competing with the resource sector and also the construction 
sector for the same employees can impact on the success of the programs, or whether they 
are conducted or not. 

Budget Constraints 
There have, over the years, been several State Government budget initiatives applied to 
agencies including Durack, which have influenced the outcomes of the Institute. In real 
terms the organisation’s funding barely remains abreast of CPI increases. Given the 
pressures on external labour costs in the Central West region, costs for services have 
generally increased well in excess of CPI. Staff salary increases have been in excess of CPI 
and since they are not fully funded this places additional burden on the agency to provide 
services in the areas of extra-curricular activity, equipment purchases, maintenance and 
minor works. 
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Leave Management and FTE Cap 
The Institute is dedicated to reducing its leave liability, which is generally not excessive as 
lecturing staff, which make up over 50% of staff numbers, have ‘programmed’ leave periods. 
However there may be issues that arise where staff clearing excessive leave are not 
backfilled as all agencies also have a commitment to maintaining FTE numbers which 
currently includes staff on periods of leave.  Leave reduction and FTE totals must therefore 
be managed in unison with the ongoing provision of service. 

Remote Training Costs 
The cost of providing training to remote locations other than within the towns of Geraldton, 
Carnarvon, Exmouth and Wiluna, where campuses are directly located, is ever increasing. 
This, coupled with rising operational costs of the centres themselves and a decreasing total 
revenue base as provided by the Department of Training and Workforce Development, 
makes the cost of training provision in remote areas, though very important, very expensive. 

Often the skills base in remote locations to source lecturers from is very sparse, resulting in 
travel to these locations having to be undertaken by lecturers from the main campus in 
Geraldton. This comes at an enormous cost, well above the provision rate, particularly as 
the majority of training is delivered face to face and hands on, largely for Aboriginal 
students in areas such as numeracy and literacy, civil construction, horticulture and 
conservation and land management. 

An expected review of the funding model focussing on strategies to overcome such large 
inadequacies and barriers is welcomed by Durack Institute of Technology. Durack continues 
to provide training in remote towns and communities and to explore innovative ways of 
delivery. 

Emerging Higher Education Opportunities 
Durack has recognised that opportunities exist to better service regional clients through the 
provision of pathways to higher education programs. In 2012 the Institute undertook 
several areas of research to identify potential models for both the provision of pathways 
from VET qualifications to tertiary level study and opportunities for the delivery of tertiary 
programs through the Institute. This is a strategic focus area for 2013. 

The Institute will consult with key stakeholders including the Geraldton Universities Centre 
to determine models that will provide increased opportunity for regional people to access a 
range of tertiary programs. In addition the Institute has started discussions with several 
tertiary providers who are already partnering with public VET providers. These are mainly in 
the eastern states where dual sector providers have been in operation for several years. The 
changing landscape of the higher education sector demands the Institute consider the 
future directions in the area. 

In conjunction with this, Durack has initiated the process to register as a VET Fee Help 
provider, which will allow eligible students access to income contingent loans for study at 
the Diploma and Advanced Diploma levels. 

Changes to the Training Market 
Durack anticipates there will be a number of changes, including increased competition in 
the training market in Western Australia arising from reforms in the VET sector, including 
the introduction of a Student Entitlement Model in 2014. The final shape of the Entitlement 
Model is yet to be determined and Durack is keen to work with the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development in the development of the model. In 2013 Durack will 
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implement a range of organisational changes identified as part of an ongoing business 
review aimed at positioning the organisation to better meet the demands of this changing 
environment. 

Enhancing E-Business Capability 
Most of the significant issues noted above require ‘doing more with less’. Durack believes 
the key strategy in addressing these issues is enhancing our capacity to undertake more of 
our training delivery via e-learning. Because of the size of the Midwest Gascoyne region and 
the multitude of disadvantages associated with the ‘tyranny of distance’ and less than 
desired education achievement, Durack will need an E-Business strategy that is both ‘high 
tech and high touch’. Accordingly Durack has embarked on a comprehensive three year, E-
Business Capability strategy that will include a focus on 6 elements and cost in the order of 
$1.5 million over the implementation period. 

Looking Ahead – Major Initiatives in 2013 
 With 40% enrolment growth over 4 years and likely continued growth, Durack will, 

following a review in 2012, implement new Institute Governance and Management 
arrangements, delivery models and job descriptions. 

 Implement policies, procedures, protocols and models aimed at maximising the number 
of staff working flexibly, innovatively and effectively. 

 Commence construction of the new Centre for Health Industries Training and Workforce 
Development, Aboriginal Cultural and Learning Centre and the Centre for Resources 
Sector Workforce Training. 

 Continue to increase the number of collaborative, jointly funded, flexible and innovative 
training programs with industry and community. 

 Commence utilisation of the National Broadband Network rollout in Geraldton to 
establish training opportunities outside of the Midwest region and/or expand delivery 
into higher level qualifications through partnership arrangements with other 
training/tertiary institutions. 

 In tandem with the above approach to utilise the National Broadband Network, finalise 
and begin to implement a comprehensive e-Business Capability strategy. 

 

 

Draft Three Dimensional Concept Design - Aboriginal Cultural and Learning Centre
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance 
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Financial Statements 
 

Certification of Financial Statements 2012 
The accompanying financial statements of Durack Institute of Technology have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from 
proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the year ended 
31 December 2012 and the financial position as at 31 December 2012. 
 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Malcolm Smith 14 March 2013 
Chairperson, Governing Council 
Durack Institute of Technology 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Bert Beevers 14 March 2013 
Managing Director 
Member, Governing Council 
Durack Institute of Technology 
 
 
 

 
Serena Cruickshank 14 March 2013 
Chief Finance Officer 
Durack Institute of Technology 
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Durack Institute of Technology 
 

  2012 
 

2011 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   

   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 Notes   $ 

 
$ 

COST OF SERVICES 
 

        
Expenses 

 
        

Employee benefits expense 6   19,338,603    17,056,472  
Supplies and services 7   7,879,561    7,261,442  
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8   1,398,234    1,598,959  
Grants and subsidies 9   58,356    80,984  
Cost of sales 14   372,080    345,431  
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 18   

 
  8,525  

Other expenses 10   1,836,779    1,649,396  

Total cost of services 
 

  30,883,613    28,001,209  
  

 
        

Income 
 

        
Revenue 

 
        

Fee for service 11   1,149,699    1,518,490  
Student fees and charges 12   1,819,985    1,661,671  
Ancillary trading 13   226,491    187,265  
Sales 14   427,437    439,098  
Commonwealth grants and contributions 15   73,244    249,632  
Interest revenue 16   394,437    335,295  
Other revenue 17   551,170    515,777  

Total revenue 
 

  4,642,463    4,907,228  
  

 
        

Gains 
 

        
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 18   5,821    

 
Total gains 

 
  5,821      

  
 

        

Total income other than income from State 
Government 

  

4,648,284  4,907,228 

  
 

        

NET COST OF SERVICES 
 

    (26,235,329)   (23,093,981) 

  
 

        

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 19         
Service appropriation 

 
  24,617,785    22,944,178  

Resources received free of charge 
 

  1,331,742    547,745  

Total income from State Government 
 

  25,949,527    23,491,923  
  

 
        

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (285,802)   397,941  

   
   

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

        
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 

 
  8,072,750     (1,365,172) 

Total other comprehensive income 
 

  8,072,750     (1,365,172) 
  

 
        

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(DEFICIT) FOR THE 
PERIOD   

7,767,360    (967,230) 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.  
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Durack Institute of Technology 

 
  2012   2011 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

        
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 Notes    $     $  
ASSETS 

 
        

Current Assets   
 

    
 

  
Cash and cash equivalents 31   7,544,448  

 
6,137,123  

Inventories 21   58,987  
 

81,974  
Receivables 22   624,792  

 
873,707  

Other current assets 23   218,052  
 

128,982  
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 24   

   Total Current Assets 
 

  8,446,279  
 

7,221,786  

  
 

    
 

  
Non-Current Assets  

 
    

 
  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 / 31   523,226  
 

321,917  
Property, plant and equipment 25   50,059,352  

 
40,125,477  

Other non-current assets 23   27,500  
 

2,500  

Total Non-Current Assets 
 

  50,610,078  
 

40,449,894  

  
 

    
 

  
TOTAL ASSETS 

 
  59,056,357  

 
47,671,680  

  
 

    
 

  
LIABILITIES 

 
    

 
  

Current Liabilities 
 

    
 

  
Payables 27   1,241,518  

 
1,032,648  

Provisions 28   2,895,030  
 

2,287,947  
Other current liabilities 29   64,587  

 
30,804  

  
 

    
 

  

Total Current Liabilities 
 

  4,201,135  
 

3,351,399  

  
 

    
 

  
Non-Current Liabilities 

 
    

 
  

Provisions 28   1,084,934  
 

1,036,939  

Total Non-Current Liabilities 
 

  1,084,934  
 

1,036,939  

  
 

    
 

  
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

 
  5,286,069  

 
4,388,338  

  
 

    
 

  
NET ASSETS 

 
  53,770,288  

 
43,283,341  

  
 

    
 

  
EQUITY 

 
    

 
  

Contributed equity 30   23,233,270  
 

20,533,270  
Reserves 

 
  15,679,028    7,606,279  

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 
 

  14,857,990  
 

15,143,793  

TOTAL EQUITY 
 

  53,770,288  
 

43,283,341  

 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.  
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Durack Institute of Technology 
 

  2012   2011 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 
        

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 Notes    $     $  
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 

 
  

  
  

Service appropriation - Department of 
Training and Workforce Development 

  
24,546,696 

 
21,554,011 

Net cash provided by State Government 
 

  24,546,696    21,554,011 

  
 

        
Utilised as follows: 

 
        

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 

        
Payments 

 
        

Employee benefits 
 

  (18,666,611)   (15,548,920) 
Supplies and services 

 
   (6,572,573)    (6,543,967) 

Grants and subsidies 
 

   (58,356)    (80,984) 
GST payments on purchases 

 
   (774,826)    (755,439) 

Other payments 
 

   (2,153,796)    (1,926,356) 
  

 
        

Receipts 
 

        
Fee for service 

 
  1,408,104    1,168,768  

Student fees and charges   
 

   1,829,558      1,655,377  
Ancillary trading 

 
   226,491     187,265  

Commonwealth grants and contributions 
 

    91,756     233,632  
Interest received 

 
    406,804     311,062  

GST receipts on sales 
 

   191,751    273,528  
GST receipts from taxation authority 

 
  570,826    481,055  

Other receipts 
 

  1,043,497     954,739  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities 31   (22,457,374)   (19,590,240) 

  
 

        
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 
        

Payments 
 

        
Purchase of non-current physical assets 

 
  (530,106)   (428,440) 

Receipts 
 

        
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical 
assets 

 
  49,418    80,332  

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing 
activities 

 
  (480,688)   (348,108) 

  
 

        
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   1,608,634    1,615,664  

  
 

        
Cash and cash equivalents at begining of 
period 

 
  6,459,040    4,843,376  

    
 

        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF PERIOD 31   8,067,674    6,459,040  

 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Durack Institute of Technology 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 
 

1. Australian Accounting Standards 

(a) General  

The Institute's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian 
Accounting Standards' refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 

The Institute has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards 
from their operative dates. 

(b) Early adoption of standards 

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements'. There has been no early adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Institute 
for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2012. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements. Unless otherwise stated, these policies are consistent with those adopted in the 
previous year. 

(a) General statement  

The Institute is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as 
applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording 

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over 
the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon 
the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been 
measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($).  
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Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Institute’s accounting 
policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.  

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Institute only. 

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the 
owner) as contributions  by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such 
transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been 
designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly 
Owned Public Sector Entities' and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the 
transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 30 'Equity'. 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable. 

The majority of operating revenue of the Institute represents revenue earned from student 
fees and charges, fee for service, ancillary services, trading activities and Commonwealth 
grants and contributions. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for 
the major business activities as follows: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured 
reliably. 

Provision of services 

Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction. 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. The effective interest method which is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset is used where applicable. 
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Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Institute obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at 
their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated. 

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the 
Institute obtains control over the funds. The Institute obtains control of the funds at the 
time the funds are deposited into the Institute’s bank account. 

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on 
the condition that they will be expended in a specified manner, and those conditions had 
yet to be made at the end of the reporting period, the amounts and nature of, and the 
conditions attaching to them are disclosed in the notes. 

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained 
specifically for the provision of goods and services over a future period, the amounts and 
nature of, and the periods to which they relate are to be disclosed. 

Where contributions recognised as revenues in a previous reporting period were obtained 
in respect of the current reporting period, the amounts and nature of are to be disclosed. 

Service appropriations  

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the 
Institute gains control of the appropriated funds.  The Institute gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account.  

State funds 

The funds received from the Department of Training and Workforce Development in respect 
of the delivery of services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement are included 
in State funds, disclosed under ‘Income from State Government'. They are the result of 
training successfully tendered for under competitive tendering arrangements. This revenue 
is recognised at nominal value in the period in which the Institute meets the terms of the 
Agreement. See note 19 'Income from State Government'. 

Gains 

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment  

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their 
useful lives. Where applicable in accordance with TI 1101, the capitalisation threshold has 
been applied to the aggregate value of a group or network of assets where the cost of 
individual item may be below the threshold but collectively the cost of the items in the 
group or network exceeds the threshold. Items of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total). 
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Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.  

For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of land, buildings and infrastructure and historical cost for all other property, 
plant and equipment. Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure only) and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined 
on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference to recent market 
transactions.  When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net amount restated to the revalued amount.  

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on 
the basis of existing use.  This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where 
land use is restricted.  Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the 
cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the 
depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the 
depreciated replacement cost basis, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount.  

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Landgate) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the asset's fair value at the end of the reporting 
period. 

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to 
apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. 

Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a 
clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. Refer to note 25 
'Property, plant and equipment' for further information on revaluations. 

Derecognition 

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus. 

Asset revaluation surplus 

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the 
revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 25 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 
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Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually.   

Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Buildings 40 years 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 6 years 
Plant, furniture and general equipment 5,10,15 years 
Computing, communications and software (a) 5 or 10 years 
Marine craft 6 years 

 (a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 

Works of art controlled by the Institute are classified as property, plant and equipment. 
These are anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any 
material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has 
been recognised. 

Land is not depreciated.   

(g) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any 
indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Where there is an indication 
of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is less 
than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the 
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  As the Institute is a not-for-
profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of 
assets' future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs.  

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use 
are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there 
is any indication of impairment. 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined 
by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and 
the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.  

See note 26 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.  See 
note 2(n) 'Receivables' and note 22 'Receivables' for impairment of receivables. 
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(h) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell and are disclosed separately from other assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position.  Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised. 

(i) Leases 

The Institute has entered into operating lease arrangements for motor vehicles and land. 
Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents 
the pattern of benefits derived from the leased motor vehicles and land.  

(j) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Institute has two categories of financial 
instruments: 

 Loans and receivables; and 

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

These have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial assets 

 Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash and cash equivalents) 

 Receivables 

 Term deposits 

Financial liabilities 

 Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face 
value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not 
required as the effect of discounting is not material. 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include 
restricted cash and cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.  

(l) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries (see note 27 'Payables') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at 
the end of the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does 
not coincide with the end of the financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a 
fortnight of the financial year end. The Institute considers the carrying amount of accrued 
salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. 
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(m) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned 
by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority 
being measured on a first in first out basis. 

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in 
which case they are measured at net realisable value. 

See note 21 'Inventories'. 

 

(n) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against the 
allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised 
when there is objective evidence that the Institute will not be able to collect the debts. The 
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  See 
note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’. 

(o) Payables 

Payables are recognised when the Institute becomes obliged to make future payments as a 
result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days.  See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 27 
'Payables'. 

(p) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
See note 28 ‘Provisions’.  

(i) Provisions - employee benefits 

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up 
to the end of the reporting period. 

Annual leave 

The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within twelve months after the 
end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 

Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply 
at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
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the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Institute does not 
have an unconditional right to the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. 

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected 
to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Institute does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Pre-conditional and conditional 
long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Institute 
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service. 

An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by Pricewaterhouse Coopers 
Actuaries at 31st December 2012. 

Deferred Leave 

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered 
into an agreement to self-fund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the 
agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be 
used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. 
Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at 
their discretion at any time. 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for 
public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
now closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members since 1995. 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and 
whole-of-government reporting.  However, it is a defined contribution plan for Institute 
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purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
Institute to GESB extinguishes the Institute’s obligations to the related superannuation 
liability. 

The Institute has no liabilities under the Pension schemes or the GSS. The liabilities for 
the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to 
members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All 
other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Institute to 
the GESB.  

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of 
either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West 
State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 
16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 
2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees were able to choose 
their preferred superannuation fund. The Institute makes concurrent contributions to 
GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to 
these accumulation schemes extinguish the Institute’s liability for superannuation 
charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.  

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is 
recouped from the Treasurer for the employer's share. See also note 2(q) 
'Superannuation expense'. 

(ii) Provisions - other 

Employment on-costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee 
benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other 
expenses' and are not included as part of the Institute's 'Employee benefits expense’. The 
related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. (See note 10 'Other 
expenses' and note 28 'Provisions'.) 

(q) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS), the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS) and other superannuation 
funds.  

(r) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are 
recognised as income at fair value. Where the resource received represents a service that 
the authority would otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised.  Receipts of 
assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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(s) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year. 

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

No significant judgements have been made that would materially alter the current financial 
result of the Institute. 

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Long Service Leave 

Several estimations and assumptions in calculating the Institute’s long service leave 
provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and 
expected future payments.  Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on 
the carrying amount of the long service leave provision. 

Delivery Performance Agreement 

The uncertainty of the Institute’s ability to deliver all of its training programs may give rise 
to a provision in “Current-Other Liabilities” of a value refundable to the Department of 
Training and Workforce Development.  An estimation will be made based on student 
information held at year end with final results determined by the Department the following 
year. 

Plant and Equipment Fair Values 

The Institute revalues its Land and Buildings every year, however, the estimated useful life 
of other assets such as Plant and Equipment could be considered an estimate of uncertainty. 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Institute has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 that impacted on the Institute. 

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards 

This Standard identifies the Australian Interpretations and classifies 
them into two groups: those that correspond to an IASB 
Interpretation and those that do not. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures 

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from the 
other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to 
achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand 
Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact. 
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AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on 
Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & 7] 

This Standard introduces additional disclosure relating to transfers of 
financial assets in AASB 7. An entity shall disclose all transferred 
financial assets that are not derecognised and any continuing 
involvement in a transferred asset, existing at the reporting date, 
irrespective of when the related transfer transaction occurred. There 
is no financial impact. 

AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Trans-Tasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 
128, 132 & 134 and Int 2, 112 & 113] 

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054, removes disclosure 
requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a 
single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New 
Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2011-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief 
from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate 
Consolidation [AASB 127, 128 & 131] 

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity 
method and proportionate consolidation by removing the 
requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared by 
the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, 
provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and the 
ultimate or intermediate parent entity are not-for-profit non-
reporting entities that comply with Australian Accounting Standards. 
There is no financial impact. 

Voluntary changes in accounting policy 

There have been no voluntary changes in accounting policy. 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative  

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements'. Consequently, the Institute has not applied early any of the following 
Australian Accounting Standards that may impact the Institute. Where applicable, the 
Institute plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date. 
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Title Operative for reporting periods beginning on / after 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes 
to accounting treatments. 

The mandatory date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 
2015. The Institute has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard for agencies. 

1 Jan 2015 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and 
Interpretation 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Institute has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 
This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in Aug 2011. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 
127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and AASB 
131 Interests in Joint Ventures. 

The Standard was issued in Aug 2011. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for 
measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value 
measurements. The Authority has liaised with the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) to 
ensure that sufficient information will be provided to meet the 
disclosure requirements of this Standard. There is no financial 
impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making 
changes to the recognition, presentation and disclosure 
requirements. 

The Institute will assess employee leave patterns to determine 
whether annual leave is short-term or other long-term employee 
benefit. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that 
were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not 
material. 

1 Jan 2013 
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Title Operative for reporting periods beginning on / after 

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements 
This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in Aug 2011. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 128 Investments In Associates and Joint Ventures 
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in Aug 2011. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting 
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for 
preparing general purpose financial statements. There is no 
financial impact. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2009-
11 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12].  
[modified by AASB 2010-7.] 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2010-
2 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7 ,8, 101, 102, 
107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 
131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052] 

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian 
Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce 
reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of entities. 
There is no financial impact. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2010-
7 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 
and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result 
of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.  

1 Jan 2013 
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Title Operative for reporting periods beginning on / after 

AASB 2011-
2 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054] 

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve 
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting 
Standards for reduced disclosure reporting.  There is no financial 
impact. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2011-
6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending 
Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate 
Consolidation – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 
128 & 131] 

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity 
method and proportionate consolidation by removing the 
requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared 
by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS 
compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer 
and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards or Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no 
financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2011-
7 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 
3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 
138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 5, 9, 16 & 17] 

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from 
the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures. The institute has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-
8 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 
110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 
138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 4, 
12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132] 

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value 
guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in September 
2011. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 
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Title Operative for reporting periods beginning on / after 

AASB 2011-
9 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation 
of Items of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 
120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 &1049] 
This Standard requires to group items presented in other 
comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are 
potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently 
(reclassification adjustments). The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jul 2012 

AASB 2011-
10 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 
2011-8 and Interpretation 14] 
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing 
AASB 119 in September 2011. There is limited financial impact.  

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-
11 

Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119 (September 
2011). There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2012-
1 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value 
Measurement - Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 
140 & 141] 
This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure 
requirements for additional and amended disclosures arising 
from AASB 13 and the consequential amendments implemented 
through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2012-
2 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 
132] 
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to 
include information that will enable users of an entity’s financial 
statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting 
arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the 
entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial 
liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. 

The Standard was issued in June 2012. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 
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Title Operative for reporting periods beginning on / after 

AASB 2012-
3 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132] 
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address 
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting 
criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a 
legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross 
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net 
settlement. 

The Standard was issued in June 2012. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 2012-
5 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 
134 and Int 2] 
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual 
improvements process. 

The Standard was issued in June 2012. The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2012-
6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory 
Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 
2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8] 
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 
Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 1 January 
2013). Further amendments are also made to numerous 
consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now 
apply from 1 January 2015. 

The Standard was issued in September 2012. The Institute has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2012-
7 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127] 
This Standard adds or amends the Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures, AASB 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities, AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements and AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements. 

The Standard was issued in September 2012. The Institute has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jul 2013 

 

Changes in Accounting Estimates 
There have been no changes in accounting estimates. 
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

6 Employee benefits expense       
  Wages and salaries (a)  17,736,524    15,666,305  

 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 1,602,079 

 
1,390,167  

    19,338,603    17,056,472  
          

 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits 
tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution 
component. 

 

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, and Gold State and GESBS and 
other eligible funds.  

          

 

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance, are 
included at note 10 'Other expenses'.  

 
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 28 'Provisions'. 

          

7 Supplies and services        

 
Consumables and minor equipment  1,275,753      1,260,391  

  Communication expenses     122,554     126,714  
  Utilities expenses     499,861     530,700  

 
Consultancies and contracted services   3,391,819     2,659,246  

  Minor works   1,080,923      1,140,384  
  Repairs and maintenance    275,647     339,266  
  Operating lease and hire charges    305,049      294,325  
  Travel and passenger transport    420,322       387,164  
  Advertising and public relations    155,613      152,741  
  Supplies and services - other    352,020      370,511  

     7,879,561      7,261,442  
          

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense 
     Depreciation        

  Buildings     894,750      945,694  

 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  173,481      192,638  

 
Plant, furniture and general equipment   243,133      261,562  

 
Computers and communication network   84,707       83,097  

  Marine craft    2,163     115,968  

     1,398,234     1,598,959  

9 Grants and subsidies        
  Recurrent        

 

Payments to non-TAFE providers for VET service 
delivery    1,315     28,985  

 

Apprentices and trainees (travel, accommodation 
and other off-the-job assistance)   35,400     37,148  

  Other     21,640        14,851  

     58,355       80,984  
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

10 Other expenses        
  Building maintenance 760,944     665,044  
  Doubtful debts expense  (31,461)   40,657  
  Employment on-costs   979,703    865,738  
  Donations   1,690         455  
  Student prizes and awards  21,486      31,795  
  Losses and write-offs    91,591       45,585  
  Other (a)   12,826         122  

      1,836,779      1,649,395  

  
 

      

 
(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  

 

The on-costs liabilities associated with the recognition of annual and long service 
leave liabilities are included at note 28 'Provisions'. 

 

Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee 
benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 

          
11 Fee for service        
  Fee for service - general     674,283     672,560  

 

Fee for service - Department of Training and 
Workforce Development 

  213,367       303,737  

 

Fee for service - Government (other than 
Department of Training and Workforce 
Development) 

  175,365      408,732  

  International division fees     86,685     133,461  

      1,149,700      1,518,490  

12 Student fees and charges        
  Tuition fees  1,163,615      990,689  
  Enrolment fees    (3,202)            -    
  Resource fees    619,092       620,979  
  Other college fees     40,480       50,003  

    1,819,985    1,661,671  

13 Ancillary trading        
  Live works (not a trading activity)     186,675      126,356  
  Contracting and consulting   36,369       53,635  
  Other ancillary revenue     3,448        7,274  

      226,492      187,265  

14 Trading profit/(loss)       

 
(b) Bookshop: 

   
  Sales     70,167       89,398  
  Cost of sales:       
  Opening inventory (43,770)   (40,339) 
  Purchases (107,965)   (121,437) 

    (151,735)   (161,776) 

 
Closing inventory     24,943         43,770  

  Cost of goods sold (126,792)   (118,007) 

 
Trading profit/(loss) - Bookshop   (56,625)    (28,609) 
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

 
(c) Cafeteria (non-training related) 

   
  Sales   352,796     349,700  
  Cost of sales:       
  Opening inventory  (24,195)     (20,132) 
  Purchases (247,408)   (231,487) 

    (271,603)   (251,619) 
  Closing inventory  26,314      24,195  

  Cost of goods sold (245,289)   (227,424) 
          

  Trading profit/(loss) - Cafeteria   107,507      122,276  
          

  (d) Other trading       
  Sales   4,474                -    

 
Trading profit/(loss) - Other trading   4,474             -    

        55,356     93,667  

  See note 2(m) 'Inventories' and note 21 'Inventories'.      

15 Commonwealth grants and contributions 
   

 

Commonwealth specific purpose grants and 
contributions 

 73,244      249,632  

     73,244     249,632  

 
These grants include DEEWR JET Creche funding 

             

16 Interest revenue       

 

Interest revenue (CBA operating account, Bankwest 
online cash management account, CBA term 
deposit, Bank of Queensland term deposit) 

394,437        335,295  

    394,437    335,295  

17 Other revenue       
  Rental and facilities fees 289,776    252,489  

 
Other direct grants and subsidy revenue 113,376    164,900  

 
Sponsorship and donations revenue 55,229    65,587  

  Miscellaneous revenue  92,789    32,801  

    551,170    515,777  
          

18 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets 
   

 
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 

   

 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 41,418    39,122  

 
Plant, furniture and general equipment 8,000    25,991  

 
Total proceeds from disposal of non-current assets  49,418    65,113  

          

 
Costs of disposal of non-current assets 

   

 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers (32,917)    (44,207) 

 
Plant, furniture and general equipment (10,680)   (29,431) 

 
Total cost of disposal of non-current assets (43,597)   (73,638) 

  Net gain/(loss)  5,821     (8,525) 

 

See note 2(h) 'Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale’, note 
24 ‘Non-current assets held for sale’ and note 25 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

19 Income from State Government       

 
Appropriation received during the year  

   

 

Service appropriation (a) (State funds received from 
Department of Training and Workforce 
Development): 

   

  
   

 
Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) 24,135,168    20,862,943  

 
Superannuation   71,089          -    

 
Other recurrent funds   411,528    2,081,234  

  Total State funds 24,617,785    22,944,178  

 
        

 
Resources received free of charge(b) : 

   

 

Determined on the basis of the following estimates 
provided by agencies :    

 
Department of Training and Workforce Development 

  
  - Corporate systems support 439,310      308,956  
  - Marketing and publications  22,247       23,886  

 
- Human resources, and industrial relations support   16,950        14,216  

  - Other  853,235      200,687  

 
Total resources received free of charge  1,331,742         547,745  

 
Total income from State Government 25,949,527     23,491,923  

          

 

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation 
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable 
(holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any 
agreed increase in leave liability during the year. 

 

(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as 
revenue at the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can 
be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not 
donated. Contribution of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners 
are recognised directly to equity. 

  
(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The 
recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.  

          

20 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
   

  Non-current 
   

  27th Pay - to be paid in December 2015     523,226  
 

  321,917  

  
 

 523,226   321,917 

21 Inventories       
  Inventories not held for resale:       
  Other (at cost)    7,729       14,009  

      7,729         14,009  
  Inventories held for resale:       
  Bookshop (at cost)    24,943        43,770  
  Cafeteria (at cost)     26,314         24,195  

       51,257        67,965  

  Total     58,986        81,974  

  See also note 2(m) 'Inventories' and note 14 'Trading profit/(loss)'.    
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

22 Receivables       
  Current       
  Receivables - trade  188,936       289,475  
  Receivables - students  244,724      221,144  
  Accrued revenue   205,236      387,470  

 
Allowance for impairment of receivables   (55,010)     (86,471) 

  GST receivable    40,905       62,089  

  Total  receivables    624,791         873,707  
          

  
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for 
impairment of receivables: 

      

  Balance at start of year   (86,471) 
 

   (45,814) 
  Doubtful debts expense     31,461  

 
   (40,657) 

  Balance at end of year   (55,010)      (86,471) 
  

 
      

  
The Institute does not hold any collateral or other 
credit enhancements as security for receivables. 

      

  
 

      

  See also note 2(n) 'Receivables' and note 36 'Financial instruments'.   
          

23 Other assets       
  Current       
  Prepayments 217,932    127,177  
  Other current assets (a)  120          1,805  

  Total current  218,052    128,982  

          
  Non-current       
  Other non-current assets (b)   27,500         2,500  

  Total non-current    27,500         2,500  
          

 

(a) current asset - purchasing card disputed 
transactions    

 

(b) non-current asset - accrued expense for asset 
purchase    

          

24 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
   

  Opening balance       

 
Plant, furniture and general equipment       -           15,219  

        -         15,219  

 
Total assets reclassified as held for sale 

   

 
Plant, furniture and general equipment     -       15,219  

       -         15,219  

  Less assets sold (a)       

 
Plant, furniture and general equipment       -    

 
   15,219  

         -         15,219  

  Closing balance       

 
Plant, furniture and general equipment        -                     -    

             -                  -    

  (a) See note 18 'Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets'.      
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

25 Property, plant and equipment       
  Land       
  At fair value (a) 5,650,000     2,950,000  

      5,650,000    2,950,000  

  Buildings       
  At fair value (a) 42,968,000    35,790,000  

    42,968,000    35,790,000  

 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  

   
  At cost  1,202,181    1,093,140  
  Accumulated depreciation   (858,463)    (723,295) 

       343,718      369,845  
          

 
Plant,  furniture and general equipment 

   
  At cost   3,029,902     2,763,424  
  Accumulated depreciation  2,090,204)    (1,944,668) 

      939,698       818,756  

 
Computer equipment, communication network 

   
  At cost    751,691      773,822  
  Accumulated depreciation  (599,488)   (584,844) 

    152,203      188,978  

         -                   -    
  Marine craft       
  At cost 1,678,516    1,678,516  
  Accumulated depreciation (1,672,783)   (1,670,620) 

      5,733            7,896  

          

    50,059,352    40,125,476  

          

 

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Landgate). The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 31 December 2012 and recognised at 31 December 2012. In undertaking the 
revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: 
$5,650,000 (2011: $2,950,000) and buildings: $42,968,000 (2011: $35,790,000). For 
the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined on the basis of 
depreciated replacement cost. See note 2(f) 'Property, plant and equipment'. 
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

26 Impairment of assets       

 

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or 
intangible assets at 31 December 2012. 

          

 

The Institute held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during 
the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets 
not yet available for use. 

          

 

All surplus assets as at 31 December 2012 have either been classified as assets held for 
sale or written off. 

          
27 Payables       
  Current        
  Trade payables           -       (1,721) 
  Accrued expenses 627,802    482,557  

 
Accrued salaries and related costs 609,751    551,812  

  Paid parental leave payable 3,965             -    

  Total current 1,241,518    1,032,648  

          

  
See also note 2(o) 'Payables' and note 36 'Financial Instruments'. 

  
    

          
28 Provisions       
  Current       
  Employee benefits provision       
  Annual leave (a) 909,629     804,444  
  Long service leave (b)  1,479,487    1,153,761  
  Superannuation    68,115            -    
  Deferred Salary Scheme ( c)   58,049       46,587  

    2,515,280    2,004,792  
  Other provisions       
  Employment on-costs (d)   379,750     283,155  

      379,750      283,155  

  Total current 2,895,030     2,287,947  

          
  Non-current       
  Employee benefits provision       
  Long service leave (b)   936,135    895,877  

      936,135       895,877  
  Other provisions       
  Employment on-costs (d)    148,799      141,062  

      148,799      141,062  

  Total non-current  1,084,934     1,036,939  
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

     

 
Within 12 months of  the end of the reporting period 720,146  

 
 644,107  

 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period 

189,483 
 

160,337 

    909,629      804,444  
          

 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur 
as follows: 

        
 

 
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  556,982  

 
476,396  

 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period 

1,858,640  
 

1,573,242  

    2,415,622    2,049,638  
          

 

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

          

 
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 58,049  

 
46,587  

     58,049     46,587  
          

 

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment 
of employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. 

 

The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 10 
'Other expenses'. 

          

  Movements in other provisions       

 

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below. 

          

  Employment on-cost provision       
  Carrying amount at start of period 424,217    457,958  
  Additional provisions recognised 104,332  

 
 (33,741) 

 
Carrying amount at end of period  528,549     424,217  

     
29 Other liabilities       
  Current        
  Income received in advance (a)  42,653          -    
  Money/deposits held in trust   21,625      30,484  
  Other     309         320  

  Total current    64,587        30,804  
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

 
(a) Income received in advance comprises: 

   

 
Other Government (Commonwealth/Local 18,512 

  

 
Student fees and charges 3,125 

  

 
Other 21,016 

  

  
42,653 

  
  

   
30 Equity       

 

The Government holds the equity interest in the Institute on behalf of the community. 
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Institute. The asset 
revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of 
non-current assets. 

          

  Contributed equity       
  Balance at start of period 20,533,270    18,678,038  
          

  Other contributions by owners       

 
Transfer of net assets from other agencies (a)  2,700,000     1,855,232  

 
Batavia Coast Maritime Institute land 

   
  Total contributions by owners 2,700,000     1,855,232  

          

  Balance at end of period 23,233,270    20,533,270  

          

 

(a) Transfer of net assets from other agencies AASB 1004 ‘Contributions’, requires 
transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements to be 
accounted for as contributions by owners and distributions to owners. Where activities 
are transferred from one agency to another agency as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, AASB 1004 (paragraph 57) requires the transferee agency 
to disclose the expenses and income attributable to the transferred activities for the 
reporting period, showing separately those expenses and income recognised by the 
transferor agency during the reporting period. Furthermore, AASB 1004 (paragraph 58) 
requires disclosures by class for each material transfer of assets and liabilities in 
relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements, together with the name of the 
counterparty transferor/transferee agency.  In respect of transfers that are individually 
immaterial, the assets and liabilities are to be disclosed on an aggregate basis. 

          

 

TI 955 designates non-discretionary and non-reciprocal transfers of net assets between 
state government agencies as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB 
Interpretation 1038. Where the transferee agency accounts for a non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal transfer of net assets as a contribution by owners and the transferor 
agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owners. 

          

  Reserves       
  Asset revaluation surplus       
  Balance at start of period   7,606,279     8,971,451  
  Buildings   8,072,750     (1,365,172) 

  Balance at end of period 15,679,029     7,606,279  
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

  Accumulated surplus/(deficit)        
  Balance at start of period  15,143,793     14,745,851  
  Result for the period   (285,802)   397,941  

  Balance at end of period  14,857,990     15,143,793  

  
   

  Total Equity at end of period   53,770,288     43,283,341  

     31 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
   

 
Reconciliation of cash       

 

Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

    
 

  
 

  Cash on hand   9,421     7,721  
  Cash advances   26,980    28,160  
  Cash at bank   1,799,639     1,586,116  

 

Short term deposits (Treasury at call, Bankwest online 
at call, Commonwealth Bank 1 month term deposit) 

5,708,409    4,515,126  

     7,544,449    6,137,123  

 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 20 
'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') 

  523,226    321,917  

    8,067,675    6,459,040  
          

 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash 
flows provided by/(used in) operating activities    

          
  Net cost of services  (26,235,329) 

 
(23,093,981) 

    
   

  Non-cash items: 
   

  
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 
'Depreciation and amortisation expense) 

    1,398,234  
 

    1,598,959  

  Doubtful debts expense (note 10 ‘Other expenses’)  (31,461) 
 

   40,657  
  Superannuation expense                      -    

 
    1,390,167  

  
Resources received free of charge (note 19 ‘Income 
from State Government’)  

    1,331,742  
 

        547,745  

 
Fringe Benefits Tax and Fuel Offset from GST Receipts           33,242  

 
          15,554  

 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant  and 
equipment (note 18 ‘Net gain/(loss) on sale of non-
current assets’) 

            5,821  
 

   (8,524) 

 

Losses and write-offs (excludes cash shortages/thefts 
of money) (note 10 ‘Other expenses’) 

          91,591  
 

          45,707  

    
   

  (Increase)/decrease in assets: 
   

  Current receivables (a)         248,915  
 

   (169,716) 
  Current inventories           22,988  

 
  (17,890) 

  Other current assets   (89,071) 
 

 (230,106) 
  Other non current assets   (120,815) 

 
  (2,500) 
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2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

  Increase/(decrease) in liabilities 
     Current payables (a)         208,868  

 
        358,038  

  Current provisions         607,083  
 

            8,689  
  Other current liabilities           33,782  

 
            2,550  

  Non-current provisions           47,995  
 

 (71,805) 
  Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)  (21,184) 

 
   (14,698) 

 
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)           10,224  

 
          10,917  

    
   

 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (22,457,375)   (19,590,240) 

  

 

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST 
and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are 
not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items. 

 
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions 

 
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables 

          

 

At the end of the reporting period, the Institute had fully drawn on all financing 
facilities, details of which are disclosed in the financial statements. 

  
 

      
32 Commitments       

 
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant. 

          

 
Capital expenditure commitments 

   
  Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 

the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows: 
 

  Within 1 year                      -              307,553  

 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 

   
  Later than 5 years 

 
  

 
                         -              307,553  

 
The capital commitments include amounts for: 

   
  Financial Assets                      -              307,553  

          
  Other expenditure commitments       

 

Other expenditure commitments [cancellable operating leases] contracted for at the 
end of the reporting period date but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows: 

       Within 1 year         167,145            181,790  

 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years         168,357            198,749  

  Later than 5 years           10,071              11,543  

  
        345,573            392,082  

          
33 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

   
  Contingent liabilities       

 

The Governing Council is not aware of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets as 
at balance date. 
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  Contaminated sites       

 

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Institute is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation 
(DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to 
human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as 
contaminated - remediation required or possibly contaminated - investigation required, 
the Institute may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses. 

          

 

The Governing Council is not aware of any contaminated sites on any of the properties 
under its control as at balance date. 

       Contingent assets       

 
The Governing Council is not aware of any contingent assets as at balance date. 

     34 Events occurring after the reporting period 
   

 

The Governing Council is not aware of any other matters or circumstances that have 
arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report which have 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the activities of the Institute, the results 
of those activities or the state of affairs of the Institute in the ensuing or any 
subsequent years. 

 
35 Explanatory statement         

 

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2012 and between actual 
results for 2011 and 2012 are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be 
those greater than 10% or $200,000. 

            

 
Significant variances between estimated and actual result for the financial year 2012 

           2012   2012      
     Estimate   Actual   Variation  Variation  
     $   $   $   %  

  Income  
      Ancillary trading   181,007   226,491     45,484  20% 

  Commonwealth grants and contributions     348,263    73,244  (275,019) -375% 
  Interest revenue    276,074    394,437     118,363  30% 
  Other revenue    249,422   551,170     301,748  55% 
  

       Expense 
      Employee benefits expense 18,562,320  19,338,603   776,283  4% 

  Supplies and services   6,425,945   7,879,561  1,453,616  18% 
  Depreciation and amortisation expense   1,618,949   1,398,234  (220,715) -16% 
  Grants and subsidies  113,098  58,356   (54,742) -94% 
  Loss on disposal of non-current assets   11,032    -      (11,032) -100% 
  Cost of Sales   332,882    372,080    39,198  11% 
  Other expenses   1,546,028  1,836,779    290,751  16% 

 

 Ancillary trading 
 An increase in live works in hairdressing, hospitality, automotive and Batavia Coast 

Maritime Institute live works (ornamental fish sales, NATA lab testing). 
  



 

 
 78 

 Commonwealth grants and contributions 
 A decrease due to a DEEWAR funded Indigenous training program not running in 2012. 
 

 
 Interest revenue 
 An increase as a result of sourcing higher interests rates in short term deposits. 
 

 
 Other revenue 
 An increase in residential occupancy and student accommodation revenue throughout 

the year.  Childcare premises rented for a full financial year, additional workers’ 
compensation insurance recoveries and sponsorship revenue. 

 
 

 Employee benefits expense 
 An increase in lecturing salaries as a result of an increase in profile delivery and the 

flexible hours arrangement takeup.  District allowance, superannuation, program 
management salaries and leave provisions. 

 
 

 Supplies and services 
 Increase in resources received free of charge from the Department of Training and 

Workforce Development for fire service upgrade. 
 

 

 Depreciation and amortisation expense 
 Training vessel Masterclass fully depreciated in July 2011 and in December 2011 net 

revaluation decrement of buildings. 
 

 

 Grants and subsidies 
 Kickstart school apprenticeship link program did not run in 2012. 
 

 

 Loss on disposal of non-current assets 
 Loss realised in 2011, however a profit realised in 2012. 
 

 

 Cost of Sales 
 Increase of cost of goods sold for canteen and bookshop. 
 

 

 Other expenses 
 Increase in payroll tax due to increase in salaries. 

 

 Significant variances between actual results for 2011 and 2012 
 

         2012   2011   Variance   Variance  
    $   $   $   %  

 Income  
     Fee for service  1,149,699  1,518,490   (368,791) -24% 

 Student fees and charges   1,819,985   1,661,671    158,314  10% 
 Ancillary trading  226,491    187,265   39,226  21% 
 Commonwealth grants and contributions   73,244   249,632   (176,388) -71% 
 Interest revenue   394,437   335,295     59,142  18% 
 Other revenue    551,170    350,877     200,293  57% 
 

      Expense 
     Employee benefits expense 19,338,603  17,056,472   2,282,131  13% 

 Supplies and services  7,879,561   7,261,442  618,119  9% 
 Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,398,234   1,598,959   (200,725) -13% 
 Grants and subsidies   58,356    80,984   (22,628) -28% 
 Loss on disposal of non-current assets    -        8,525    (8,525) -100% 
 Other expenses 1,836,779    1,649,396   187,383  11% 
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Fee for service 

 
A decrease in industry specific/CAT courses, international students and WELL (Workplace 
English Language and Literacy) funding. 

  
 

Student fees and charges 

 
An increase in profile funded training and delivery. 

  
 

Ancillary trading 

 

An increase in live works in hairdressing, hospitality, automotive and Batavia Coast 
Maritime Institute live works (ornamental fish sales, NATA lab testing). 

  
 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 

 
A decrease due to a DEEWAR funded Indigenous training program not running in 2012. 

  
 

Interest revenue 

 
An increase as a result of sourcing higher interests rates in short term deposits. 

  
 

Other revenue 

 

An increase in residential occupancy and student accommodation revenue throughout 
the year.  Childcare premises rented for a full financial year, additional workers’ 
compensation insurance recoveries and sponsorship revenue. 

  
 

Employee benefits expense 

 

An increase in lecturing salaries as a result of an increase in profile delivery and the 
flexible hours arrangement takeup.  District allowance, superannuation, program 
management salaries and leave provisions. 

  
 

 
Supplies and services 

 

Increase in resources received free of charge from the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development for fire service upgrade. 

  
 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 

 

Training vessel Masterclass fully depreciated in July 2011 and in December 2011 net 
revaluation decrement of buildings. 

  
 

Grants and subsidies 

 
Kickstart school apprenticeship link program did not run in 2012. 

  
 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 

 
Loss realised in 2011, however a profit realised in 2012. 

  
 

Other expenses 

 

Increase of cost of goods sold for canteen and bookshop.  Increase in payroll tax due to 
increase in salaries. 
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36 Financial instruments 

 
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

 

Financial instruments held by the Institute are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash 
and cash equivalents, loans and receiveables, payables, bank overdraft, WATC/Bank 
borrowings, finance leases, and Treasurer's advances. 

 
The Institute has limited exposure to financial risks. 

 

The Institute's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risk identified 
below: 

    

 
Credit risk 

 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Institute’s receivables defaulting on 
their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Institute.   

    

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to 
each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets 
inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 36(c) ‘Financial 
instruments disclosures’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’. 

    

 

Credit risk associated with the Institute’s financial assets is minimal because the Institute 
trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. 

  
 

 

The Institute has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made 
to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Institute's exposure to bad debt 
is minimal. 

  
 

At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

  
 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk arises when the Institute is unable to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. 

 

The Institute is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of 
business.   

 

The Institute has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet its commitments. 

    

 
Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Institute's income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. 

 

The Institute does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other 
price risks (for example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). 
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  (b) Categories of financial instruments       

 

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the carrying amounts of each of the following 
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

     

  
2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

 
Financial Assets 

   

 
Cash and cash equivalent 7,544,448 

 
6,137,123 

 
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 523,226  

 
  321,917  

 
Receivables (a) 583,886 

 
811,618 

     

     

 
Financial Liabilities 

   

 
Payables 1,241,518 

 
1,032,648 

     

 

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory 
receivable). 

     

 
(c) Financial instrument disclosures 

   

 
Credit risk 

   

 

The following table discloses the Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk and the 
ageing analysis of financial assets. The Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The 
table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior 
management of the Institute. 

     

 

The Institute does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating 
to the financial assets it holds. 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

 

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the 
Institute's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the 
surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that 
the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period. 

  
            

   
- 100 Basis Points 

 
+ 100 Basis 

Points 

 

  Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity 

  
Surplus  Equity  

 
2012  $ $ $   $ $ 

 
              

 
Financial Assets             

 
Cash and cash equivalent 7,508,047  (75,080) (75,080)    75,080  75,080  

 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalent 523,226    (5,232)  (5,232)     5,232  5,232  

 
              

 
Total Increase/(Decrease)   (80,312) (80,312)    80,312  80,312  

 
              

 
    - 100 Basis Points 

 

+ 100 Basis 
Points 

 

  Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity 

  
Surplus  Equity  

 
 2011  $ $ $   $ $ 

 
              

 
Financial Assets             

 
Cash and cash equivalent 6,101,242  (61,012) (61,012)   61,012  61,012  

 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalent  321,917   (3,219)  (3,219)     3,219   3,219  

 
              

 
Total Increase/(Decrease)   (64,232) (64,232)    64,232  64,232  

  
            

 
Fair values             

 

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, 
whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent 
a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable 
notes. 
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37  Remuneration of members of the Institute and senior officers 

 

Remuneration of members of the Institute 

 

The number of members of the Institute whose salaries, superannuation, non-
monetary total of fees, benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the 
following bands are: 

    
 

        
    $    2012  

 
 2011  

    $0 - $10,000   8 
 

9 
   $300,001 - $310,000   - 

 
1 

   $320,001 - $330,000   1 
 

- 
    

 
        

    
 

   $     $  

 
Cash remuneration received in relation to 2012 

 
246,742  

 
  230,201  

 
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 

 
  93,512    94,269    

 
The total remuneration of the members of the Institute 340,254       324,470  

    
 

        

 

Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in 
respect of members of the Institute. 

 

 
Remuneration of senior officers 

 

The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the 
Institute, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and 
other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 

          
 

2012 
 

2011 
    $0 - $10,000 1 

 
- 

    $10,001 - $20,000 1 
 

- 
    $40,001 - $50,000 2 

 
1 

    $50,001 - $60,000 2 
 

- 
    $60,001 - $70,000 2 

 
- 

    $70,001 - $80,000 - 
 

1 
    $100,001 - $110,000 - 

 
1 

    $130,001  -$140,000 1 
 

1 
    $140,001 - $150,000 1 

 
2 

    $150,001 - $160,000 2 
 

4 
    $160,001 - $170,000 - 

 
1 

    $170,001 - $180,000 3 
 

- 
    $180,001 - $190,000 1 

 
1 

  
$190,001 - $200,000 1 

 
1 

  
$220,001 - $230,000 1 

 
- 

  
$240,001 - $250,000 1 

 
- 

 

  Cash remuneration received in relation to 2012 1,568,243  
 

1,285,091  
  Annual leave and long service leave accruals  748,700    522,727    

 
Other benefits 1,366 

 
3,272 

  The total remuneration of senior officers 2,318,309    1,811,090  

     

  
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in 
respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Institute.   

 

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 
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     2012     2011  
     $     $  

38 Remuneration of auditor       

 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current 
financial year is as follows: 

 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators   61,600        59,000  

          

 
The expense is included in note 10 'Other expenses'. 

             
39 Related bodies       

 
The Institute has no related bodies. 

             
40 Affiliated bodies       

 
The Institute has no affiliated bodies. 

   
  

      
41 Supplementary financial information 

     (a) Write-Offs 
           Public property   10,295  

 
         -    

        Bad debts    92,890         45,874  

    103,185       45,874  

          
42 Schedule of income and expenditure by service 

             

 

The Institute provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer's Instruction 1101 (9) 
and that is Vocational Education and Training Delivery. 
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Annual Estimates 
 

Durack Institute of Technology 

S40 SUBMISSION 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

      
2013 

      
Estimate 

            $ 

COST OF SERVICES 
   

  
Expenses 

    
  

Employee benefits expense 
   

19,264,810 
Supplies and services 

   
11,175,073 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
  

1,398,829 
Finance costs 

    
0 

Grants and subsidies 
   

63,974 
Payments to Non TAFE Providers for VET Delivery 

 
21,571 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 
  

0 
Cost of sales 

    
382,091 

Other expenses  
    

1,811,946 

       

Total Cost of Services 
   

34,118,294 

Income 
     

  
Revenue 

    
  

Fee for service 
    

1,275,317 
Student charges and fees 

   
1,773,106 

Ancillary trading 
    

211,346 
Sales 

     
456,779 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 
  

205,389 
Interest revenue 

    
398,538 

Other revenue 
    

393,176 

      
0 

Total Revenue 
    

4,713,651 
Gains 

     
  

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 
  

26,000 
Other gains 

    
0 

Total Gains 
    

26,000 

      
  

Total income other than income from State Government 4,739,651 

      
  

NET COST OF SERVICES 
   

(29,378,643) 

      
  

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
  

  

State funds 
    

26,043,642 
Assets assumed/(transferred) 

 
0 

Resources received free of charge 
  

2,847,000 
Royalties for regions 

   
0 

Total income from State Government 
 

  28,890,642 

      
  

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 
 

(488,001) 

      
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

   
       Changes in asset revaluation reserve  0 

Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity  0 
       

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (488,001) 
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Durack Institute of Technology 
S40 SUBMISSION 
BALANCE SHEET 

      
2013 

      
Estimate 

            $ 

ASSETS 
     

  
Current Assets 

    
  

Cash and cash equivalents 
   

5,475,992 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

  
1,000,000 

Inventories 
     

80,208 
Receivables 

    
1,009,803 

Amounts receivable for services 
   

0 
Other current assets 

    
128,000 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
  

0 
       

Total Current Assets 
   

7,694,003 
      

  

Non-Current Assets 
    

  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

  
616,302 

Inventories 
     

0 
Receivables 

    
0 

Amounts receivable for services 
   

0 
Property, plant and equipment  

   
41,494,158 

Intangible assets 
    

0 
Other non-current assets 

   
0 

       

Total Non-Current Assets 
   

42,110,460 

TOTAL ASSETS         49,804,463 
  

     
  

LIABILITIES 
    

  
Current Liabilities 

    
  

Payables 
     

1,727,887 
Borrowings 

    
0 

Amounts due to the Treasurer 
   

0 
Provisions 

     
2,468,695 

Other current liabilities 
   

40,375 
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for 
sale 0 
       

Total Current Liabilities 
   

4,236,957 
      

  

Non-Current Liabilities 
   

  
Payables 

     
0 

Borrowings 
    

0 
Provisions 

     
1,091,358 

Other non-current liabilities 
   

0 
       

Total Non-Current Liabilities 
   

1,091,358 

TOTAL LIABILITIES         5,328,315 

NET ASSETS         44,476,148 

      
  

EQUITY 
     

  
Contributed Equity 

    
23,233,270 

Reserves 
     

7,606,279 
Accumulated 
surplus/(deficiency) 

     
13,636,599 

TOTAL EQUITY         44,476,148 
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Durack Institute of Technology 

S40 SUBMISSION 

CHANGES IN EQUITY STATEMENT 

      
2013 

      
Estimate 

            $ 

Balance of equity at start of period 
   

44,964,149 

      
  

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
    

  
Balance at start of period 

   
23,233,270 

Capital contribution 
    

0 
Other contributions by owners 

   
0 

Distributions to owners 
    

0 

Balance at end of period 
   

23,233,270 

       
      

  
RESERVES 

     
  

Asset Revaluation Reserve 
   

  
Balance at start of period 

   
7,606,279 

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors 0 

Restated balance at start of period 
   

7,606,279 
Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation 

  
0 

Balance at end of period 
   

7,606,279 

  
      

     
    

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS)     
Balance at start of period 

   
14,124,600 

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors 0 

Restated balance at start of period 
   

14,124,600 
Surplus/(deficit) or profit/(loss) for the period 

 
(488,001) 

Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity 
  

0 

Balance at end of period 
  

13,636,599 

       

      
  

Balance of equity at end of period 
   

44,476,148 

      
  

      
  

Total income and expense for the period   (488,001) 

 
 
  



 

Annual Report 2012 
D u r a c k  I n s t i t u t e  o f  T e c h n o l o g y  91 

Durack Institute of Technology 

S40 SUBMISSION 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

    
2013 

    
Estimate 

        $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT   
State funds 

  
26,043,642 

Capital contributions 
 

  
Holding account drawdowns 

 
  

  
   

  

Net cash provided by State 
Government       26,043,642 

Utilised as follows: 
 

  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Payments 

  
  

Employee benefits 
  

(18,546,337) 
Supplies and services 

 
(9,332,796) 

Finance costs 
  

0 
Grants and subsidies 

 
(85,545) 

GST payments on purchases 
 

(884,071) 
GST payments to taxation authority 0 
Other payments 

  
(2,281,545) 

     Receipts 
  

  
Fee for service 

  
1,275,796 

Student fees and charges 
 

1,951,496 
Ancillary trading 

  
211,346 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 205,389 
Interest received 

  
371,822 

GST receipts on sales 
 

237,132 
GST receipts from taxation authority 565,875 
Other receipts 

  
849,955 

    
  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (25,461,483) 

    
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 50,000 
Purchase of non-current physical assets (650,000) 
     Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (600,000) 

    
  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from borrowings 

 
0 

Repayment of borrowings 
 

0 
Other proceeds 

  
0 

Other repayments 
  

0 
Finance lease repayment of principal 0 
     Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 0 

    
  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held and cash equivalents (17,841) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 7,110,135 

    
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 7,092,294 
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Key Performance Indicators 
 

Certification of Key Performance Indicators 2012 
 

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are 
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Durack Institute of Technology’s 
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Durack Institute of Technology for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2012. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Malcolm Smith   
Chairperson, Governing Council 
Durack Institute of Technology  25 February 2013 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Bert Beevers   
Managing Director 
Member, Governing Council 
Durack Institute of Technology  25 February 2013 
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Government Goal 
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western 
Australians. 
 

Desired Outcome 
A skilled workforce that meets the needs of Western Australia. 
 

Durack Institute of Technology’s Desired Outcome 

“The provision of vocational education and training services to meet the community and 
industry training needs within the Central West region”. 
 
Durack Institute of Technology has developed key performance indicators to report 
performance relating to the effectiveness and efficiency with which the above outcome has 
been achieved. The Institute uses the indicators in reviewing its performance and in its 
ongoing commitment to improve its programs and services.   
 

Effectiveness Indicators 
The effectiveness indicators measure the achievement of vocational education and training 
in meeting community and industry needs via student and graduate satisfaction, labour 
force status of graduates and profile achievement. 
 
1.1 Student Satisfaction 
The 2012 WA Student Satisfaction Survey was administered on behalf of the Western 
Australian Department of Training and Workforce Development (DTWD) by Patterson 
Market Research. The aim of the survey is to gain an understanding of students’ training 
requirements and to measure the quality of the delivery of training and services provided by 
Durack Institute of Technology. In 2012 the methodology for the survey included a mail out 
of survey forms, the availability of the survey online and emails including the online survey 
link. At Durack Institute of Technology survey forms were also supplied to Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Services staff for distribution directly to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander clients.  
 
Table One: Overall Student Satisfaction Rate 
 

 
2008 

Actual 
2009 

Actual 
2010 

Actual 
2011 

Actual 
2012 

Target 
2012 

Actual 

Durack Institute of Technology 90.3% 89.2% 86.5% 90.9% 91.0% 87.6% 

Western Australia 85.0% 85.6% 86.7% 88.4% NA 86.3% 

 
Notes: 
a. Source:  Patterson Market Research (2012) Student Satisfaction Survey 
b. Derivation:  The standard error was calculated at 1.3% with a confidence interval of ± 

2.7% and a confidence level of 95%. 
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c. Comments:  The sample comprised students who had undertaken training during either 
first or second semester of 2012. The usable population size for the Institute was 2,722, 
and a total of 476 usable surveys were returned. This represents a response rate of 
17.4%. The responses were mainly collected using online and postal research 
methodologies.  

 
The overall student satisfaction rating calculates the number of 'satisfied' and 'very 
satisfied' respondents. The results provide an overall expression of how satisfied 
students are with various services provided by the Institute. Students were asked to 
respond to the question ‘Overall, how satisfied were you with your course?’ on a five 
point scale where one is ‘very satisfied’ and five is ‘very dissatisfied’.  Table One shows 
the proportion of respondents who were either very satisfied or satisfied overall with 
their course(s). 
 
The overall satisfaction score at Durack Institute of Technology decreased by 3.3% from 
the previous year to 87.6% however Durack continues to be above the State’s overall 
satisfaction score of 86.3%. 
 

1.2  Graduate Outcomes 
The Social Research Centre conducts the annual Student Outcomes Survey on behalf of the 
National Centre for Vocational Education and Research (NCVER). The aim of the survey is to 
measure vocational education and training students’ employment status, further study, and 
the opinions of the training undertaken. Questionnaires were sent to a stratified randomly 
selected sample of Durack Institute of Technology graduates who successfully completed a 
qualification or module in the previous reporting period.   
 
NCVER conducts surveys with appropriate sample design to produce statistically reliable 
Institute level data in alternative years (commencing from 2005). During 2008 Durack 
Institute of Technology elected to pay for a data top up to ensure data availability. In 2010 
and 2012 no data was sourced for the Institute. 
 
1.2.1  Graduate Satisfaction  
Durack Institute of Technology aims to contribute to the development of individuals through 
the provision of education and training courses that give students skills, knowledge and 
attitudes relevant to their employment and personal development needs. 
 
The measure is derived from the proportion of graduates who indicated they had fully or 
partly achieved their main reason for doing the training and from their overall satisfaction 
with the quality of training, both expressed as a percentage of the representative 
population.  
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Table Two: Graduate Satisfaction 
 

 2008 
Actual 

2009 
Actual 

2010 
Actual 

2011 
Actual 

2012 
Target 

2012 
Actual 

Fully or partly achieved main reason for doing the training 

Durack Institute of Technology 87.0% 91.8% NA 92.6% 93.0% NA 

Western Australia STPs 89.0% 87.1% 85.0% 87.5% NA NA 

Australia TAFE Providers 87.0% 85.9% 84.0% 85.8% NA 84.5% 

Satisfied with the overall quality of training 

Durack Institute of Technology 91.0% 90.1% NA 93.0% NA NA 

Western Australia STPs 90.0% 88.9% 89.1% 90.2% NA NA 

Australia TAFE Providers 89.0% 89.2% 88.7% 89.7% NA 89.4% 

 
Notes: 
a. Source:  Student Outcomes Survey 2012, National Centre for Vocational Education 

Research (NCVER). 
Please Note:  
i) Data is only provided in alternative years and Durack elected not to source a data 

top-up for 2012. 
ii) In 2012 the NCVER made changes to the survey methodology in the classification of 

graduates and module completers. Durack has elected not to make changes to any 
historical data as the data reflecting the methodology change from previous years 
for Durack and TAFE WA is not available. Durack data will reflect the changes in 
methodology from 2012. 

b. Comments:  A new measure of overall satisfaction with training was added in November 
2012 at the request of the OAG and therefore no target was given for 2012. 

 
1.2.2 Proportion of Graduates in Employment 
The proportion of graduates in employment is a key performance indicator which shows the 
extent to which the Institute is providing relevant quality training that improves student 
employability and meets the workforce development requirements of industry.  
 
Graduate labour force status was derived according to the standard definitions of the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics of ‘employed’, ‘unemployed’ and ‘not in the labour force’. 
This measure indicates respondents’ work situation as at the end of May 2012 and is 
expressed as a percentage of the representative population. 
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Table Three: Graduate Employment after Training 
 

 2008 
Actual 

2009 
Actual 

2010 
Actual 

2011 
Actual 

2012 
Target 

2012 
Actual 

Graduates Employed       

Durack Institute of Technology 84% 80.1% NA 81.7% 82.0% NA 

Western Australia STPs 81% 78.0% NA 79.7% NA NA 

Australia TAFE Providers 80% 77.1% NA 77.1% NA 76.1% 

Graduates Unemployed       

Durack Institute of Technology 4% 6.6% NA 8.8% 7.0% NA 

Western Australia STPs 6% 10.1% NA 9.9% NA NA 

Australia TAFE Providers 10% 11.3% NA 12.0% NA NA 

Graduate not in Labour Force       

Durack Institute of Technology 12% 13.0% NA 9.2% 9.0% NA 

Western Australia STPs 12% 11.8% NA 10.0% NA NA 

Australia TAFE Providers 10% 11.1% NA 10.6% NA NA 

 

Notes: 
a. Source:  Student Outcomes Survey, National Centre for Vocational Education Research 

(NCVER). 
Please Note:  
i) The 2010 Actual figures have been amended to NA to reflect the unavailability of the 

data in this year. 
ii) Data is only provided in alternative years and Durack elected not to source a data 

top-up for 2012. 
iii) In 2012 the NCVER made changes to the survey methodology in the classification of 

graduates and module completers. Durack has elected not to make changes to any 
historical data as the data reflecting the methodology change from previous years 
for Durack and TAFE WA is not available. Durack data will reflect the changes in 
methodology from 2012. 

 
1.3 Achievement of Profiled Delivery 
This performance indicator reports the effectiveness of Durack Institute of Technology in 
meeting targets in the Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA), through which the 
Institute is resourced to deliver training purchased by Government. Purchased delivery 
takes into consideration the needs of the local community, individuals and the workforce 
development requirements of industry. Through this delivery the Institute was able to assist 
clients to achieve their desired training outcomes. The diversity of the delivery indicates the 
extent to which the Institute is contributing to the strategic training needs of the State, as 
defined in Training WA and the State Training Plan. In addition the Institute contributes 
additional training delivery effort through the provision of delivery under fee-for-service 
arrangements. 
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1.3.1 Achievement of Profiled Delivery by Industry Group 
This indicator details the total number of Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) delivered which 
were funded through the 2012 Delivery and Performance Agreement. 
 
Table Four indicates the target SCH and actual achievement of SCH in the profiled 
Department of Training and Workforce Development Industry Group categories.  The 
classification of these Industry Groups is based on the occupation or outcome the course is 
intended to serve, and highlights the Institute’s performance in achieving industry delivery 
targets. The table also provides a comparison with achieved SCH in previous years.  
 
Table Four: Achievement of 2012 Profile by Department Of Training and Workforce 
Development Industry Group 
 

WADT Group 
2010 

Achieved 
SCH 

2011 
Achieved 

SCH 

2012 
Target 

SCH 

2012 
Achieved 

SCH 

01A - Recreation Sports and 
Entertainment 

17,005 12,085 7,200 6,060 

01B - Visual and Performing Arts 26,184 32,372 29,800 26,677 

02A - Automotive 51,145 55,915 50,400 50,921 

03A - Building and Constructions 132,751 167,548 187,000 212,716 

03B - Surveying and Building - 0 600 0 

04A - Community Service 
Workers 

47,680 46,790 37,700 56,575 

04B - Education and Childcare 101,640 86,570 88,000 115,375 

04C - Health 50,202 65,325 57,000 41,843 

05A - Finance Insurance Property 
Service Workers 

886 1,308 600 684 

06A - Food Trades and Processing - 0 - 0 

07A - Clothing Footwear and Soft 
Furnishings 

920 600 1,000 2,380 

07B - Furniture Manufacture 4,552 1,618 500 378 

09B - Metal and Mining 73,478 60,425 58,100 107,599 

10A - Animal Care 11,265 28,700 27,600 20,560 

10B - Forestry, Farming and 
Landcare 

82,070 104,278 90,000 87,982 

10C - Fishing 22,940 32,632 39,400 18,790 

10D - Horticulture 11,231 10,917 12,200 15,346 

11A - Process Manufacturing 7,918 10,348 7,600 5,558 

12A - Personal Service 37,171 33,071 33,400 32,519 

12B - Retail 3,132 4,465 3,800 3,660 

13A - Cooking 25,756 24,119 28,400 23,413 

13B - Hospitality 13,608 13,874 13,800 12,984 

13C - Tourism 5,785 3,275 5,000 1,415 

14A - Transport Trades, Storage 
and Associated 

45,481 44,353 45,100 37,468 

15A - Electrical and Electronic 
Engineering 

- 16,579 - 0 

15B - Electrical Trades 39,816 23,236 34,200 41,901 
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16A - Accounting and other 
Business Services 

14,855 10,605 23,200 5,030 

16B - Management 20,337 19,015 22,400 6,990 

16C - Office and Clerical 85,730 90,055 67,000 70,605 

17A - Computing 36,510 30,485 25,300 40,370 

18A - Science and Technical 
Workers 

31,378 43,107 55,300 49,885 

19B - Adult Literacy/ESL 86,653 90,139 90,100 86,505 

19E - Targeted Access and 
Participation Courses 

26,440 45,915 58,300 32,560 

Total 1,114,519 1,209,724 1,200,000 1,214,749 

Less breaches in ceilings on 
delivery (if any) 

Nil Nil  Nil 

Total counted SCH as at census 
date 

1,114,519 1,209,724 NA 1,214,749 

 
Notes: 
a. Source:  Durack Institute of Technology Delivery and Performance Agreement  
b. Derivation:  Data represents the actual achievement of SCH in respective years.  Target 

data is obtained from the DPA and achieved SCH from the College Management 
Information System (CMIS). Achieved SCH is recorded using “end of study” data, ie the 
date student’s study is completed. 

c. Comments:  In 2012 the Institute delivered above its initial profile target of 1,200,000. 
Variances between the planned and achieved figures reflect changes in demand for 
training within an industry group. These changes may be due to changes in government 
priorities for training or the changing nature of the industry itself. Changes within the 
industry group are also reflective of a diverse regional training environment. During 
2012 Durack negotiated two addenda to the DPA allowing for the increase in delivery 
above the initial planned total. Through the May and September Addenda the final 
target agreed with the Department of Training and Workforce Development for 2012 
was 1,215,000 SCH. The percentage achieved against this revised target was 99.98%. 

 
1.3.2 Overall Achievement of Profiled Delivery 
This performance indicator shows the overall percentage of Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) 
achieved for training purchased by the Department of Training and Workforce Development 
and summarises the data in Table Five. 
 
Table Five: Achievement of 2012 Profile, Planned Vs Achieved Sch 
 

 Planned SCH Achieved SCH % Achieved 

2008 888,888 865,444 97.4% 

2009 866,000 941,055 108.67% 

2010 894,000 1,114,519 124.67% 

2011 1,100,000 1,209,724 109.97% 

2012 1,200,000 1,214,749 101.23% 

 
  



 

Annual Report 2012 
D u r a c k  I n s t i t u t e  o f  T e c h n o l o g y  99 

Notes: 
a. Source:  Durack Institute of Technology Delivery and Performance Agreement. 

Please Note:  Planned SCH figures are the initial targets set in the Delivery & 
Performance Agreement prior to any addenda. 

b. Derivation:  Planned data is obtained from the DPA and achieved SCH from the College 
Management Information System (CMIS). 

c. Comments:  In 2012 Durack Institute of Technology delivered 101.23% of its initial 
planned profile delivery of 1,200,000 SCH.  This is a continuation of the increases the 
Institute has been experiencing since 2009. The above table also provides a comparison 
with achieved SCH in previous years. 

 

Efficiency Indicators 

2.1  Average Cost per Student Curriculum Hour (SCH)  
The overall cost per SCH demonstrates the efficiency with which Durack Institute of 
Technology manages its resources to enable the provision of vocational education and 
training programs. 

The aggregate unit cost is calculated by determining the total cost of services, as reported in 
the Institute’s Statement of Financial Performance, and divided by the achieved SCH 
delivered for profile and non-profile activities.   
 
Table Six: Cost Per Student Curriculum Hour ($/SCH) 
 

 2008 
Actual 

2009 
Actual 

2010 
Actual 

2011 
Actual 

2012 
Target 

2012 
Actual 

$ Per SCH $23.67 $23.13 $22.44 $21.27 $22.01 $22.84 

 
Notes: 
a. Source:  Financial Statements and the College Management Information system (CMIS). 
b. Derivation:  The total delivery cost per SCH is calculated by dividing the total cost of 

services measured on an accrual basis by the total SCH delivered. The total SCH is the 
total number of enrolments multiplied by the hourly duration of these units as 
registered in the College Management Information System in accordance with the 
Australian Vocational Education and Training Management Information Statistical 
Standard. Delivery from all funding sources is included. The total cost of services figure is 
obtained from the annual Financial Statements. 

c. Comments:  The cost per SCH has increased by $1.57 from 2011 and is $0.83 higher than 
the Institute target. The above table also provides a comparison with $/SCH in previous 
years. 
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Other Financial Disclosures 
Pricing Policy 
Durack Institute of Technology adheres to the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development’s Fee Policy for all non-commercial enrolments. All commercial enrolments 
are charged out after a full costing is completed by the Institute under the costing template 
in line with the State’s Competitive Neutrality Policy. 
 

Capital Works 
Capital Project Incomplete 
The Centre for Health Industries Training and Workforce Development has been funded by 
the State Government through Royalties for Regions funding to the value of $15.02 
million. The funding provided will build three separate facilities at the Geraldton Campus 
on Fitzgerald Street, Geraldton. 

The main Health, Education and Community Services building (H Block) will be a two storey 
facility replacing D, E and F Block demountables at the Geraldton Campus. This facility will 
encompass Nursing, Allied Health, Aged Care, Community Services, Children’s Services, 
Sport and Recreation, Fitness, Literacy and Numeracy and Targeted Access and 
Participation. Office accommodation is also required for up to thirty staff currently 
operating within the Portfolio that will be accommodated in this facility. 

The second facility will include a purpose designed and built Aboriginal Cultural and 
Learning Centre (J Block) to be located between I and K Block, where the old Aquaculture 
facility and storage sheds are currently located. It is envisaged that this space will cater for 
social, cultural and educational activities throughout the year for Aboriginal and non-
Aboriginal people and will offer an ideal opportunity to promote sharing of cultures. This 
facility will accommodate the Institute’s Aboriginal Training Services staff, and will serve as a 
focal point for training and workforce development in the wider communities within the 
Midwest and Murchison regions to significantly increase the capacity of Durack to work with 
Aboriginal people to improve their own social, economic and cultural circumstance. 

The extension to the existing B Block will aim to increase the capacity of the Hairdressing 
and Beauty Therapy areas. In essence, the extension will double the capacity of the current 
hairdressing salon and increase the number beauty therapy treatment areas. The extension 
will also include a centralised reception and retail area to cater for those particular aspects 
of the relevant training packages. 

The Centre for Resources Sector Workforce Training (CRSWT) funded by the State 
Government through Royalties for Regions funding, to the value of $9 million, is to be 
located on 7.5 hectares of land at the City of Greater Geraldton’s Airport Technology Park 

The CRSWT is envisaged to be a “Centre of Excellence” for the mining sector in the Midwest 
and Gascoyne regions. The CRSWT will enable Durack Institute of Technology to build on its 
expertise established at its existing facilities at Fitzgerald Street Geraldton in the areas of 
Heavy Duty Automotive training, Civil Construction, Mining, Occupational Health and Safety, 
Transport and Logistics.  

The initial $9 million will be used to construct a large Heavy Duty Automotive Workshop, 
classrooms, storage areas, a large storage shed, wash down bay, dangerous goods store 
with associated roads, car parks and hardstands. An administration block will also be 
constructed consisting of a reception area, office space for up to 15 staff, commercial 
training rooms, classrooms, ablution facilities, student and staff amenities. 
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This project also includes a full master plan for the future development of the 7.5 hectare 
site, with a future vision to relocate all trades training to the Airport Technology Park over 
the next 20 to 25 years, including training related to other technology park resident 
companies as they emerge. 
 

Capital Projects Completed 
No capital projects were completed during 2012. 
 

Employment and Industrial Relations 
Staff Profile 
Durack Institute of Technology employs staff in lecturing roles and non lecturing roles. Non 
lecturing roles include a diverse range of positions in areas such as canteen, administration 
support, and student accommodation. Durack is one of the largest employers in the region 
with an average of 216.97 full time equivalent (FTE) staff employed during 2012. 
 
The average number of FTE employed at each Campus over the period was as follows: 
 

Campus 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Geraldton 181.88 180.28 195.51 198.87 

Carnarvon 12.00 13.27 12.61 13.47 

Exmouth 2.72 3.22 3.22 3.50 

Wiluna - 0.44 1.10 1.13 

TOTAL 196.60 197.21 212.44 216.97 

 
Notes 
a. Source: Human Resource Management Information System 

Please Note: Previous annual reporting showed only non-casual FTE.  Workforce 
Management reporting now includes casuals and is reflected in all figures. 

b. Comments: The FTE for 2012 has increased in response to the sustained annual SCH 
growth. 

 

Staff Development 
Durack is committed to developing a workforce with the skills required to respond 
effectively to the changing nature of the VET environment. A significant budget is allocated 
to staff professional development, managed by Human Resources and the Principal 
Lecturers, overseen by the Workforce and Organisational Development Committee. Human 
Resources and the Principal Lecturers coordinate a detailed induction program and essential 
staff training.  The Committee ensures development of annual training plans, a monthly 
training calendar, coordination of professional development days, and reviews of individual 
staff applications for professional development. 
 
Training in Accountable and Ethical Decision Making was ongoing with 92% of staff 
completing the training. 
 
In 2012, Human Resources rolled out online learning tools in the areas of discrimination, 
bullying, sexual harassment and workplace liability. 
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Durack has a range of staffing policies including policies for recruitment to ensure 
compliance with Standards in Human Resource Management. Training has also been 
provided to staff on recruitment and selection processes and use of the RAMS systems for 
online recruitment management. 

In 2012, Durack launched its new online performance development planning tool with the 
ability to link staff development and compliance activities to the Institute’s Strategic 
Directions. 

Industrial Relations 
No major industrial relations issues are reportable for the 2012 year. 
 

Workers Compensation 
Two compensation claims were recorded during the 2012 year. 
 

Governance Disclosures 
Contracts with Senior Officers 
In accordance with the requirements of the Treasurer’s Instruction 903(14) on disclosure of 
interest of senior officers: 

 no senior officer has had any shareholding in the Institute; and 

 to the best of our knowledge, no senior officer has any interest in contracts made or 
proposed with the Institute. 
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Other Legal Requirements 
Advertising 
In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Institute incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising: 

1. Total expenditure for 2012 was $65,480.09. 

2. Expenditure was incurred in the following areas: 
 

Media Advertising Organisations  Advertising Agencies Nil 

Adcorp Australia $880.99    

Albany Advertiser $1,579.03  Market Research Organisations Nil 

Dragonfly Media $4,049.55    

Farm Weekly $82.00  Polling Organisations Nil 

Geraldton Greenough Post $500.00    

Geraldton News $17,494.17  Direct Mail Organisations Nil 

Glide Creative $228.00    

Golden West News $2,000.00  Total $65,480.09 

Joblink Midwest $50.00    

Market Creations $3,217.00    

Midwest Chamber of 
Commerce 

$227.28 
   

Midwest Times $6,659.84    

Mitchell and Partners  $18,567.03    

Northern Agricultural 
Catchments Council 

$500.00 
   

Northampton Community 
News Inc 

$10.00 
   

Orana Cinemas $3,245.46    

Quickcolourprint.com 3,260.05    

Sensis $2,289.25    

Western Australian 
Newspapers 

$177.71 
   

Yamaji News $462.73    

Sub Total $65,480.09    

 

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 

Durack Institute of Technology continues to ensure that all students have appropriate 
access to all of the Institute’s facilities and services and are provided with the opportunity to 
participate in all aspects of training.  

Students disclosing medical conditions, a disability or a learning difficulty that may impact 
their learning are supported by the Client Services – Disability Liaison Officer. Whilst all staff 
are responsible for providing a learning program and environment that facilitates 
participation for all students, the Disability Liaison Officer provides a point of contact for 
students, disability service agencies and staff, and advises staff on appropriate support 
strategies to assist students with disabilities. 
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In September 2012, the Institute completed the review of their Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan with the final Plan meeting the requirements of the Disability Services Act 
1993. 

Specific initiatives taken in 2012 against the six outcomes of the Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan are provided below. 

Outcome 1:  People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to 
access the services of, and any events organised, by Durack Institute of Technology. 

 Customised accredited training is provided for people with disabilities that promote 
pathways to further education, training and employment including Certificate I in 
Hospitality and Certificates in Gaining Access to Training and Employment.  

 Mentors and tutors are provided in some programs to assist students to complete 
training to the best of their ability. 

 Durack continues to provide equal access and inclusion principles to services and events 
organised through measures such as development and implementation of event access 
checklists. 

Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access 
the buildings and other facilities of a public authority.  

 In 2012 accessibility improvements were made to several computer training rooms to 
accommodate students identified as having a disability. This was in response to 
feedback received. 

 In 2012 all building signage was replaced with a new colour coded signage throughout 
the campus for easier identification of buildings and other facilities. 

Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive information from Durack Institute of 
Technology in a format that will enable them to access the information as readily as other 
people. 

 The Institute website displays a notation regarding availability of documents in 
alternative format. 

 Principal Lecturers and lecturers continue to adapt projects, training resources and 
materials to suit a variety of abilities. 

Outcome 4:  People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the 
staff of Durack Institute of Technology as other people. 

 During staff induction, new lecturers are made aware of the need to incorporate the 
specific needs of learners with disabilities into their course delivery planning through a 
Learning & Assessment strategy. 

 Durack provides professional development and ongoing support for staff to improve 
their skills in working with people with disabilities. 

Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to Durack Institute of Technology. 

 The Institute continues to review its complaints management process and to make 
changes to policies and procedures to streamline the processes involved. 

 The student induction program includes information to students on how to make a 
complaint about Institute services or performance. 

 A number of minor complaints were received and resolved informally. 
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Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation by Durack Institute of Technology. 

 The Institute continues to network and create pathways into the local community to 
seek a broad range of views on disability and access issues. 

 

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
The Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, The Public Sector Standards, 
Code of Ethics and the Durack Institute of Technology Staff Code of Conduct form an 
integral part of Durack’s operations. Durack is committed to ensuring compliance and best 
practice in all aspects of these standards and ethical codes. Durack ensures staff awareness 
of these codes through the induction of new staff and encouraging discussion and 
communication between current and new staff at team meetings and open forums. Specific 
initiatives undertaken during 2012 included: 

 Accountable and Ethical Decision Making training was provided to staff; 

 Recruitment, Selection and Candidate Management training was provided for managers 
and other staff involved in recruitment processes; 

 Code of Conduct was reviewed; and 

 Code of Conduct, Code of Ethics and Public Interest Disclosure were promoted to staff. 

The current policies and procedures relating to the Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management can be easily accessed by all staff through the intranet or via 
communication with their supervisor or Human Resources section. 

There were no requests for review against any of the Standards in Human Resource 
Management during the reporting period. 
 

Recordkeeping Plans 
It is a requirement under the State Records Act 2000 for government agencies to have 
systems in place for the appropriate management of records. In accordance with section 19 
of the Act, the Institute is required to have a record keeping plan (RKP) approved by the 
State Records Commission (SRC). In 2012 Durack, as part of the State Training Provider 
Network, reviewed their Recordkeeping Plan which was submitted to the SRC in October 
2012. 

The following provides key activities and outcomes achieved at Durack against four key 
areas. 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the record keeping system 
All aspects of the recordkeeping system at Durack Institute of Technology are regularly 
reviewed and evaluated to ensure continual improvement and compliance. Durack prepares 
and works to a records operational plan and continues to monitor recordkeeping key 
performance indicators. The records operational plan is monitored and reviewed on a 
regular basis to ensure effectiveness and efficiency whilst providing a quality recordkeeping 
system.  Durack has records management policies and procedures in place, and these are 
communicated to staff through provision of regular training and induction sessions for all 
staff. Durack staff have access to recordkeeping information and instruction sheets through 
the Institute’s intranet. 
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Durack Institute of Technology’s records management processes are scheduled for audit by 
Global 2020 in 2013.  The audit will cover:  

 Review of Institute record management policies and procedures, 

 Review of Recordkeeping Plan, 

 Perform State Records Office self-evaluation checklists in consultation with Records 
Manager. 

Recordkeeping training program 
An intensive training program was again carried out throughout 2012 with records 
awareness and induction training being held on a regular basis. During the year a high 
number of staff attended the records awareness and induction training session and / or 
refresher training.  Feedback from all sessions was utilised to evaluate the effectiveness of 
the training and to identify opportunities for improvement.  

In alignment with Durack’s paper saving strategy, Records staff continue to place all 
recordkeeping training information and instructions on Durack’s intranet.  

Training was delivered to all levels of staff and included staff at Geraldton, Carnarvon and 
Exmouth campuses. This resulted in a continued overall improvement in the uptake and 
correct usage of the records system. The electronic records system has been embraced by 
senior management who are leading by example and share the virtues of an electronic 
document management system (EDMS). 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training program 
Recordkeeping training is reviewed regularly by the Records team, particularly after each 
training session and an overall review is made on an annual basis.  Amendments are made 
to the training when and where required. 

The organisation’s induction program 
The records management induction for new staff is fully integrated into Durack’s formalised 
induction program. This session addresses employees’ roles and responsibilities with 
regards to compliance, mail management, file management, archival management and 
overall records management.  All information relevant to record keeping at Durack Institute 
of Technology is available to staff via the Institute’s intranet or through the Records staff. 

Government Policy Requirements 

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management 

Statement of commitment to occupational safety and health, and injury management. 
Durack Institute of Technology recognises and accepts its statutory obligations under the 
Western Australian Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. The Institute is committed to 
providing a safe and healthy environment for all employees, students, volunteers, visitors 
and contractors ensuring they are not exposed to hazards which may result in injury or harm 
to their health. The Institute is committed to maximising opportunities for continuous 
improvement and reviewing its safety performance.  

Durack management are responsible for the implementation of the OSH Policy within their 
workplace and organisational area. This responsibility includes: 

 integrating OSH into all aspects of work practices, 

 planning, developing, implementing and monitoring safe systems of work to maximise 
opportunities for continuous improvement in safety performance, 

 managing risks as far as practicable within the working environment, 
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 providing adequate information, training and supervision for all staff, contractors and 
visitors ensuring they are able to work in a safe and healthy working environment. 

Formal mechanism for consultation with employees on occupational safety and health 
matters. 
The Institute actively seeks consultation with employees on occupational safety and health 
matters through the following systems: 

 OSH Policy Statement – Outlining management and staff commitment to consult and 
cooperate on OSH matters and support and promote OSH in the workplace. 

 OSH Committee – Membership representation consists of management and OSH 
Representatives from a large cross section of Durack staff. Outlined in the Terms of 
Reference the OSH Committee takes a consultative and collaborative approach to meet 
its outcomes and objectives, reporting and making recommendations on OSH matters to 
the Institute’s Corporate Executive and Managing Director. The OSH Committee meets 
monthly, holding ten meetings per year. Each of the four members of Corporate 
Executive will attend one meeting annually. 

 OSH Representatives – Elected by their colleagues, OSH Representatives provide an 
invaluable role offering advice and support on workplace safety concerns from staff and 
management. Every departmental area is represented, including each of the regional 
campuses 

 Regular Workplace Inspections – Conducted in conjunction with the elected OSH 
Representative and area Director, regular inspections ensure compliance and standards 
are met and adhered to.  

 Accident/Incident and Near Miss/Hazard Reporting – Reporting methods are available to 
all staff, students, visitors and contractors. Each report is investigated by management 
and OSH Representative. All reports are tabled at the OSH Committee meetings and 
outcomes are communicated back to the person who originally submitted the report. 

 OSH Working Groups – Consisting of management and staff representatives formed 
when necessary to develop new policies, procedures and systems of work. 

Statement of compliance with injury management requirements of the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 
Durack is committed to injury management support to all workers who sustain a work 
related injury or illness in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981. The Institute is committed to providing a safe return to meaningful 
work and supporting the injured employee. Durack will provide assistance to ill or injured 
employees to facilitate their return to work as soon as practicable. 

The injury management system is an established process for coordinating and managing the 
aspects of injury management in order to facilitate the return of an injured employee to 
meaningful employment. Durack will facilitate the Injury Management System Policy 
through an Injury Management Guide. 

The injury management system supports the Policy for Injury Management and Workers 
Compensation (HR013P) and outlines the steps to be taken to assist an injured employee 
return to work following a work related injury or illness. Injury management aims to 
achieve: 

 Return to the same position, or modified position/role. 

 Where unable to return to the same position, or deployment to another position within 
the organisation. 

 Retraining for a position within another organisation. 
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The injury management system is implemented at the time a worker reports a work related 
injury or illness and continues until a full return to work has been achieved or is no longer a 
realistic goal. This is determined in consultation with the injured employee, the treating 
medical practitioner, Durack Institute of Technology, RiskCover and where engaged a 
vocational rehabilitation service provider. The documentation associated with the injury 
management system will be a Return to Work Plan. 

Assessment of occupational safety and health management systems 
Durack engaged an auditor from Shawsett Training in November 2011 to conduct an 
assessment of current occupational safety and health management systems against the 
WorkSafe Plan. The final report was received on 30 January 2012. A number of findings 
were identified, including Contractor Management and Emergency/Evacuation Procedures. 
The auditor strongly praised Durack for its excellent safety culture amongst its staff. Durack 
has currently completed 73 (52%) of the 140 recommendations made by the auditor. 

The following table summarises OSH and Injury Management Performance for 2012:  
 

 Actual Results Results against Target 
Indicator 2010 2011 2012 2012 Target Comment on results 

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Zero (0) Achieved 

Lost time injury/disease 
(LTI/D) incidence rate 

1.02% 1.44% 0.46% 

Zero (0) or 
10% 

improvement 
on previous 

three (3) 
years 

Achieved 

Lost time injury severity 
rate 

0% 33% 0% 

Zero (0) or 
10% 

improvement 
on previous 

three (3) 
years 

Achieved 

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to work 
within: 

(i) 13 weeks 
(ii) 26 weeks 

100% 
100% 

66% 
66% 

100% 
100% 

≥ 80% return 
to work 

within 26 
weeks 

Achieved 

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury 
management 
responsibilities 

76% 90% 67% ≥ 80% 

Target not achieved due 
to less opportunities for 
group training in 2012. 
This is being addressed 
by offering additional 
sessions with 
participants scheduled 
to attend biannually in 
2013. 

 


